Development of Ocean Acidification Endpoint Characterization Model for Life Cycle Assessment

MSc Industrial Ecology Irem Gürdal July 2021





Universiteit Leiden The Netherlands "All substances are poisons; there is none which is not a poison. The right dose differentiates a poison and a remedy."

-Paracelsus, 16<sup>th</sup> Century

# Development of Ocean Acidification Endpoint Characterization Model for Life Cycle Assessment

Quantification of the impacts of GHG emissions on marine biodiversity loss through ocean acidification

İrem Gürdal

MSc Industrial Ecology Master Thesis

**First Supervisor:** Dr. L.A. Scherer Leiden University, Institute of Environmental Sciences (CML) Department of Industrial Ecology

**Second Supervisor:** Prof.dr.ir. P.M. van Bodegom Leiden University, Institute of Environmental Sciences (CML) Department of Environmental Biology

Student Number: TUDelft: 4870832, Leiden University: s2147831





### **Executive Summary**

Ocean acidification, also referred to as the evil twin of global warming, occurs due to the CO<sub>2</sub> absorption of the oceans from the atmosphere. Both the pH and carbonate saturations are altered with this absorption process. The optimal operating conditions of the biological systems in the marine environment are therefore no longer maintained. The marine species are reacting in various ways to this change, eventually leading to a loss in biodiversity. With the current trend in emissions, the pH levels of the oceans are expected to decrease from 8.1 to 7.8 by the end of the century. In combination with the other stressors, it is projected that OA will have a wide range of impacts on marine life and its services to humanity. The representation of these implications is limited in environmental assessment tools such as Life Cycle Assessment.

This research explores the relationship between the changing acidity of the oceans and marine biodiversity loss. This relation is quantified through utilizing the ecotoxicology impact assessment approach for LCA. Following this approach, an endpoint characterization model is developed for ocean acidification. The approach consists of the development and integration of fate, exposure, effect and damage models. The fate model, expressing the relation between the GHG emissions (CO<sub>2</sub>, CO, CH<sub>4</sub>) and change in acidity of the ocean is based on the work of Bach et al. (2016). The effect model has been developed by constructing species sensitivity distributions utilizing species response data from 5 taxonomic groups (mollusca, echinodermata, fish, cnidaria, crustacea) to obtain the potentially affected fraction of species with changing pH. Furthermore, 3 different categorizations (climate zones, calcification, exposure duration) were made to assess their effects on species responses. The results revealed that there is no significant difference in responses based on different exposure durations or climate zones. Calcifying species on the other hand is found to have a higher sensitivity to ocean acidification as the change in carbonate chemistry directly influences the shell and skeleton formation of these organisms. Lastly, these models were integrated into an endpoint characterization model for ocean acidification. From the 3 GHG emissions included within the scope of this research, CO<sub>2</sub> has the highest (CF<sub>CO2</sub> =  $4.883 \times 10^4 (PDF) m^3 / kg_{GHG}$ ) and CH<sub>4</sub> has the lowest (CF<sub>CH4</sub> =  $4.072 \times 10^4 (PDF) m^3 / kg_{GHG}$ ) impact on marine biodiversity loss due to OA. These ecosystem damage indicators can be utilized in the impact assessment phase of the Life Cycle Assessment to translate the inventory results into impact on marine biodiversity.

Through the quantification of the impacts of ocean acidification, the effects of this major stressor on marine life can be better understood and targeted strategies can be developed. However, more research is required to increase the robustness of these models through expanding the species scope and incorporating temporal and geographical aspects into the models. Furthermore, the cascading effects of the changing ocean pH are still unknown and its consequences on ecosystems and socio-economic structures are unprecedented. To establish science-based targets and strategies to conserve the species richness in marine life, the extent of our understanding of the damage caused by anthropogenic actions needs to be further explored and estimated for the future.

# Acknowledgements

Writing a master thesis has been a process very much resembling a roller coaster, especially during pandemic times. Besides learning about this interesting research topic (and how to carry out a research project), I got introduced to many facets of myself that I haven't met before. Though challenging at times, I learnt a lot and am feeling very grateful for it.

Even during such a period of limited interactions and uncertainty, my wonderful family and friends never stopped supporting or uplifting me. I want to thank you all for always providing a listening ear and an open heart. Your continuous, unconditional and loving presence made it possible for me to finalize this work and become the person I am today.

I would like to thank my supervisor Peter van Bodegom, for supporting me with a great depth of expertise, novel ideas and constructive feedback. I truly benefited from the meetings that I got to ideate with you and learn from you.

I want to give my thanks to Dr Katja Mintenbeck for generously and kindly sharing the dataset of her research with me. This extensive collection of data provided me with a great foundation on to build my research upon.

Lastly, my dear supervisor Laura Scherer, very special thanks to you from the bottom of my heart. You walked through with me throughout the whole process even at times I was struggling to find my balance. Every single time that I looked for support, feedback or new ideas, you were there without a hint of judgement. Your intelligence and focus have inspired me greatly, and your empathy kept me going. I feel very lucky to have your guidance through this transforming process.

Thank you!

İrem Gürdal August, 2021

# **Table of Contents**

Executive Summary	iv
Acknowledgements	v
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
List of Abbreviations	x
Chapter 1. Introduction	2
1.1. Ocean Acidification	2
1.2. Ocean Carbonate System and Calcification Process Ocean Carbonate System Calcification Process of Marine Species	5 5 6
1.3. Scientific Knowledge Gap	7
1.4. Aim of Research	8
Chapter 2. Methods	
2.1. Life Cycle Assessment	
Application of LCA	
Development of LCA	
2.2. Ecotoxicology Impact Assessment Approach for LCA Research Flow Diagram	
2.3. Fate and Exposure Models	
2.4. Effect Model	
Data Collection	20
Expansion and Processing of the Dataset	
Modelling Approach	
2.5. Damage Model	27
2.6. Characterization Model	
Chapter 3. Results	
3.1. Fate and Exposure Model Results	
3.2. Effect Model Results	
Calcification Category Results	
Climate Zones Category Results	
Duration Category Results	
Main SSD Results & Effect Factor	
3.3. Characterization Model Results	
Main Characterization Factors.	40 л1
Calemeation Category Characterization Factors	
Chapter 4. Discussion	43
4.1. Relevance of Research	
4.2. Reflections on the results of the research	

4.2.1. Calcification SSD	44
4.2.2. Climate SSDs	46
4.2.3. Duration SSDs	47
4.2.4. Characterization Model	47
4.4. Limitations of Research & Suggestions for Further Research	49
Fate and Exposure Models	49
Species Response Data	50
Effect Modelling Approach	52
Chapter 5. Conclusion	
Bibliography	56
Appendices	61
Appendix A: Reference list for the species dataset expansion	61
Appendix B: pCO <sub>2</sub> – pH conversion	63
Appendix C: Global normalization factors and number of extant species for each taxonomic group	p64
Appendix D: Fate Model Calculations	64
Distribution Factor	64
Conversion Factor	64
Dissolution Factor	65
Fate Sensitivity Factor	66
Ocean Acidification Potential	66
Appendix F: Characterization factor calculations for calcifying and slightly calcifying species	68
Calcifying Species:	68
Slightly Calcifying Species:	68
Appendix G: Taxon based SSD results	69
Results calculated in this research:	69
Results of Wittmann et al. (2013):	69
Appendix H: The modelling method of Azevedo et al. (2015)	70
Appendix I: Code in R	71

# List of Tables

Table 1. Results of the Fate Model for the 3 elementary flows	
Table 2. Model parameters, number of species, average control pH values (pH $_{o}$ ) and category "calcification"	goodness of fit results for 32
Table 3. Interaction term test results for calcification category, including the estimate   differences between the model parameters and their p-values	ed values for the
Table 4. Model parameters, number of species, average control pH values and goodncategory "climate zones"	ness of fit results for 35
Table 5. Interaction term test results for climate zones category, including the estimate differences between the model parameters and their p-values	ted values for the 35
Table 6. Model parameters, number of species, average control pH values and goodncategory "duration"	ness of fit results for 37
Table 7. Interaction term test results for duration category, including the estimated version between the model parameters and their p-values	alues for the differences 37
Table 8. Model parameters, number of species, average control pH values and goodn main SSD	uess of fit results for the 38
Table 9. Endpoint characterization factor results for OA for the 3 elementary flows (0	CO, CO <sub>2</sub> , CH <sub>4</sub> )40
Table 10. Endpoint characterization factor results for OA for calcifying species and for the 3 elementary flows (CO, CO2, $CH_4$ )	slightly calcifying species, 41

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Concentration of CO <sub>2</sub> in the atmosphere in ppm over the course of 60 years (Buis, 2019)	2
Figure 2. Time sequence of shell dissolution of the Antarctic pteropod Limacina helicina due to OA	4
Figure 3. Bjerrum plot showing the change in seawater chemistry due to OA	5
Figure 4.Cradle-to-grave stages used in LCA	11
Figure 5.Structure of the endpoint-oriented model based on Eco-Indicator 99 methodology	13
Figure 6. Simplified version of the cause-effect chain for OA including midpoint and endpoint indicators	14
Figure 7. Distribution, conversion and dissolution pathways of CO2, CO and CH4	18
Figure 8. p <sub>co2</sub> - pH relationship on a global scale	24
Figure 9. Hillslope curves indicating different slope values	25
Figure 10. Conceptual representation of ecotoxicity impact pathway in life cycle impact assessment	27
Figure 11. SSDs of calcifying and slightly calcifying species	31
Figure 12. SSDs of species from polar, temperate and tropical regions	34
Figure 13. SSDs of species groups with different groups of experiment durations	36
Figure 14. Main SSD including species response data from the 5 taxonomic groups	38
Figure 15. Planetary Boundaries diagram	43
Figure 16. Model-derived maps of historical and projected global ocean pH levels (up) and aragonite saturation states	50

# List of Abbreviations

- OA: Ocean Acidification
- **GHG:** Greenhouse gases
- **OAP:** Ocean Acidification Potential
- **IPCC:** Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
- LCA: Life Cycle Assessment
- LCIA: Life Cycle Impact Assessment
- SETAC: Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry
- PAF: Potentially Affected Fraction of Species
- **PDF:** Potentially Disappeared Fraction of Species
- **p**co<sub>2</sub>: Partial pressure of carbon dioxide
- **CO**<sub>2</sub>: Carbon dioxide
- **CaCO**<sub>3</sub>: Calcium carbonate
- H<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>: Carbonic Acid
- **H**<sup>+</sup>: Hydrogen ion
- **HCO**<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>: Bicarbonate ion
- **Ca<sup>2+</sup>:** Calcium ion
- CH4: Methane
- **CO:** Carbon Monoxide

<u>1</u>

# Introduction

### Chapter 1. Introduction

### 1.1. Ocean Acidification

Atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) levels have increased up to 47% since the industrial revolution, reaching 412 ppm in 2019 (Buis, 2019). According to the global measurements of several scientific institutes, this concentration is going to continue rising due to the increasing global energy consumption and deforestation (Figure 1) (Buis, 2019). This long-term trend will escalate the severity of climate change impacts through the complex interactions of the climate system. The climate system is composed of different components of planet earth such as the atmosphere and the land surface, as well as the biogeochemical cycles (Ahmed, 2020). The impacts of climate change are therefore observed and expected both within and across these components, leading to a large variety of emerging outcomes. Some of these outcomes can be listed as extreme weather conditions, water scarcity, and disruption of marine and terrestrial ecosystems (IPCC, 2014).

The consequences of the changing climate and the impact of anthropogenic activities are observed and measured for global ecosystems in various forms. Global warming is the most well-known and discussed impact of climate change. Global warming is a predictable consequence of heat-trapping greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions released to the atmosphere, primarily due to the combustion of fossil fuels. Through the increased human interference due to industrialization, the planet is warming much faster compared to the previous centuries. With its current rate, the warming is expected to reach 1.5 °C within the two centuries after 2030 (IPCC, 2018).



Figure 1 Concentration of CO<sub>2</sub> in the atmosphere in ppm over the course of 60 years (Buis, 2019)

Being the primary carbon sink of the earth, oceans have tempered this rise by absorbing up to 40% of the anthropogenic GHG emissions during the last 200 years (Woods et al., 2016). Approximately 525 billion tons of CO<sub>2</sub> have dissolved in the oceans since the beginning of the industrial revolution (Fabry et al., 2008). This flow of carbon is beneficial for mitigating global warming by reducing the GHG concentration in the atmosphere. However, the large quantities of dissolved CO<sub>2</sub> also imply a shift in the chemical balance, eventually lowering the pH of the oceans (Doney et al, 2009). This phenomenon is called ocean acidification, commonly referred to as the "evil twin of global warming" (Cooke et al., 2019).

Ocean pH levels have shifted from 8.2 to 8.1 while the carbonate ion concentration within the ocean has been reduced by 16% within the Anthropocene (Bach et al., 2016). IPCC (2014) scenarios estimate that the ocean acidity will fall to 1.5 times lower than its current value and that the carbonate ion concentration will decrease by 50% by 2100 (Bach et al., 2016). The low emission scenarios suggest a shift of the ocean pH from 8.1 to 7.95, whereas the high emission scenarios suggest 8.1 to 7.8 (Azevedo et al., 2015). Considering the volume of the oceans and the logarithmic measurement of the pH scale, the impacts of such variation in acidity is detrimental, especially on marine organisms and ecosystems (Woods et al., 2016).

The alterations within the biogeochemical cycles in the oceans have significant effects on the marine species and ecosystems (Doney et al., 2009). According to Bach et al. (2016), these effects can be categorized as primary, secondary and tertiary effects. The primary effects represent the changes in water chemistry. The more acidic the water gets, the fewer carbonate ions  $(CO_3^{2-})$  will be present in the water. Secondary effects are described in terms of the reaction of organisms to OA. Secondary effects of OA are classified based on the distinctive biophysical reactions of the organisms such as acidosis, reduced larval survival and decreased calcification. Decreased calcification especially is the most well-known effect of OA and it implies the reducing ability of calcifying organisms to form shells and skeletons due to the reduction in  $CO_3^{2-}$  (Figure 2). Because of the complex interconnectedness of marine organisms, the secondary effects have the potential to disrupt the marine food web and life on an ecosystem level. This disruption causes a loss in marine biodiversity, which is described as the tertiary effects.



Figure 2 Time sequence of shell dissolution of the Antarctic pteropod Limacina helicina due to OA (exposure times; top left = 0 days, top right = 15 days, bottom left = 30 days, bottom right = 45 days) Photo credit: David Liittschwager/National Geographic Stock

Bach et al. (2016) express that the IPCC 2014 report evidenced the necessity and importance of OA research and discussions, which lead to an increase in scientific research on the topic. The majority of research results confirm that marine ecosystems will be significantly influenced. Nevertheless, these results do not currently represent realistic gradual alterations in habitats and biodiversity. This is because the research is mostly based on short-term laboratory and mesocosm experiments to gather species responses to acidification. Therefore, it does not reflect the cascading of impacts due to the interactions between species within ecosystems. Moreover, data availability is a major concern considering the vast number of species within marine life and requires enhancements through further research (Woods et al., 2016). Overall, the extent of the impact of OA on marine biodiversity is largely unknown and underrepresented in the environmental assessment tools, which is hampering the capability of taking both adaptive and mitigative action with regards to the conservation of marine species. Further research and model developments are required to understand and mitigate its impacts.

### 1.2. Ocean Carbonate System and Calcification Process

#### Ocean Carbonate System

When atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> dissolves on the surface of the ocean, a near-equilibrium reversible reaction between CO<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O takes place (Bach et al., 2016) (see Eq 1.2.1). The first chemical compound formed from the CO<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O reaction is carbonic acid (H<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>). H<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> further dissolves into bicarbonate (HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) and hydrogen ions (H<sup>+</sup>). Eventually, the remaining H<sup>+</sup> dissociates from HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, which results in 2 H<sup>+</sup> and a carbonate ion (CO<sub>3</sub><sup>-2</sup>). The rates of disassociation of aqueous CO<sub>2</sub> and HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> are dependent on the pH levels of the ocean. Despite this fact, estimates of global averages of these rates are provided in the scientific literature (Royal Society Great Britain, 2005; Doney et al., 2009). Being an unstable acid, up to 90% of the H<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> dissociates rapidly into HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and hydrogen ions (H<sup>+</sup>). Following this conversion, 9% of the HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> further dissolves into CO<sub>3</sub><sup>-2</sup> and H<sup>+</sup>.

$$CO_{2(aq.)} + H_2O \leftrightarrow H_2CO_3 \leftrightarrow HCO_3^- + H^+ \leftrightarrow CO_3^{-2} + 2H^+$$
 (1.2.1)

This alteration in seawater chemistry has two interpretations that are interconnected. First of all, as described above, when the aqueous  $CO_2$  increases, the H<sup>+</sup> concentration increases. As pH represents the negative logarithm of the H<sup>+</sup> concentration, an increase in H<sup>+</sup> concentration means a lower pH value (Doney et al., 2009). Secondly, H<sup>+</sup> released from the reaction binds with already existing  $CO_3^{2^-}$ , which decreases the overall available  $CO_3^{2^-}$  in the surface waters. In other words, the more dissolved  $CO_2$ , the higher H<sup>+</sup> and lower  $CO_3^{2^-}$  in terms of bioavailability. This balance can be observed from the Bjerrum plot (see Figure 3).



Figure 3 Bjerrum plot showing the change in seawater chemistry due to OA (Barker & Ridgwell, 2012)

### Calcification Process of Marine Species

The inorganic carbon equilibrium in Eq. 1.2.1 takes place on the surface of the ocean with a timescale of one year. In longer time scales,  $CO_2$  absorption potential of the surface waters becomes dependent on the dissolved calcium carbonate (CaCO<sub>3</sub>) in the ocean (Doney et al., 2009). CaCO<sub>3</sub> dissolves from the sediments in the ocean into  $CO_3^{2-}$  and calcium ions (Ca<sup>2+</sup>). In time,  $CO_3^{2-}$  ions move through pelagic zones of the ocean and react with available Ca<sup>2+</sup> (see Eq. 1.2.2) to form the shells or skeletons of the calcifying marine species and organisms such as corals, crustaceans and echinoderms. However, as the concentration of H<sup>+</sup> originated from aqueous  $CO_2$  is higher compared to  $CO_3^{2-}$ , H<sup>+</sup> bind with both the previously existing and  $CO_2$  based  $CO_3^{2-}$  in the ocean, which lowers the CaCO<sub>3</sub> formation rate (called calcification) of the marine organisms.

$$CaCO_3 \leftrightarrow CO_3^{2-} + Ca^{2+} \tag{1.2.2}$$

The rate of this calcification process is dependent on the saturation state, denoted as  $\Omega$  (see Eq.1.2.3). The saturation state is calculated using Ca<sup>+2</sup> and CO<sub>3</sub><sup>2-</sup> concentrations and the solubility product Ksp'. Temperature, pressure, salinity and mineral phase are the parameters that affect the solubility product value (Doney et al., 2009). Therefore, Ksp' values change depending on the location of the ocean. For instance, as solubility is lower in higher water temperatures, warm waters in the tropics and subtropics have a higher saturation state compared to polar regions. The same reasoning applies to the vertically differentiated zones within the ocean. At greater depths, solubility is higher and saturation is lower due to high water pressure. The mineral states are classified into two: aragonite and calcite. Compared to aragonite, calcite is a more stable mineral form, which makes it approximately 50% less soluble (Mucci, 1983). When the saturation state is lower than 1 ( $\Omega < 1$ ) Eq 1.2.2 can shift towards the side of CO<sub>3</sub><sup>-2</sup> and Ca<sup>+2</sup>. When  $\Omega > 1$ , calcification occurs through formation of CaCO<sub>3</sub>. Being highly dependent on carbonate ion concentration, saturation state and the calcification ability of organisms are estimated to be negatively affected by increasing levels of aqueous CO<sub>2</sub>.

$$\mathbf{\Omega} = [Ca^{+2}][CO_3^{2-}] / Ksp'$$
(1.2.3)

### 1.3. Scientific Knowledge Gap

The impact of anthropogenic activities on marine ecosystems and biodiversity is currently underrepresented in impact assessment methods. According to Woods et al. (2016), there are 7 major drivers of marine biodiversity loss: climate change, seabed damage, overexploitation, invasive species, eutrophication induced hypoxia and lastly, ocean acidification. In combination with these other stressors, it is projected that OA will have a wide range of impacts on marine life and its services to humanity (Fallis., 2013). Overall, OA is expected to influence 3 areas of protection: the natural environment, natural resources and human health (Bach et al., 2010).

In order to be able to establish effective ecosystem-based protection and management systems for the ocean, first, the impacts of OA should be quantitatively modelled and anticipated (Olsen et al., 2018). The cascade of impacts of the changing pH is currently unknown. Understanding such unprecedented consequences of OA in the near future is essential for protection of ecosystems. Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) is one of the core analytical tools utilized to quantify the environmental impacts of all of the life stages of product and service systems. LCA allows for impacts to be tangible through quantification of effects with impact indicators (Rosenbaum, 2016). However, the focus of impact assessments in LCA has been mainly directed towards terrestrial and freshwater ecosystems. While a fate model has been constructed for OA by Bach et al., (2016), an endpoint characterization model is not yet developed. Thus, a comprehensive impact indicator for OA in LCA is currently missing (Woods et al., 2016).

Development of in-depth cause-effect chains regarding the species responses to OA is necessary to provide a foundation for modelling the cascading effects of OA (Woods et al., 2016). Such mechanistic understandings of marine ecosystems, especially spatially explicit ones are currently lacking in the scientific literature. Furthermore, there are limitations in terms of the development of modelling methodologies for marine impacts (Woods et al., 2016). The global representation of the marine species as well as a consistent interpretation of changes in acidity is lacking (Olsen et al., 2018). Furthermore, a limited number of published scientific resources are available to reflect the extent of marine biodiversity loss induced by acidification. The scope of these publications mostly covers calcifying species, like Azevedo et al. (2015), or warm water species. The representation of non-calcifying species as well as colder region species are limited (Bach et al., 2016), as well as the consequences of longer durations of exposure to a gradual decrease in acidity (Doney et al., 2009).

### 1.4. Aim of Research

The objective of this thesis research is to address these gaps in knowledge described in *Chapter 1.3.* The overarching goal is to quantify the link between GHG emissions and loss of biodiversity in marine life. The initial aim is to quantify the first section of the impact pathway through understanding the ocean acidification potential of the emitted GHG (SQ1). The secondary aim is to understanding the negative effects of this pH change on the species richness. Hence, SQ2 is formulated. To shed light on the missing aspects in literature such as the limitations in inclusion of non-calcifying species and the effects of geographical and temporal variations separate models will be developed and analysed. The tertiary aim is to link the quantify the impact relations obtained by answering the first two questions through developing a comprehensive impact indicator to be used in LCA.

The main research question and the 3 sub-research questions of this thesis are:

*Main RQ:* How do GHG emissions affect marine biodiversity loss through ocean acidification?

- *SQ1:* How do GHG emissions affect ocean acidification?
- *SQ2:* How does the change in ocean acidity affect species richness?
- *SQ3:* What is the OA endpoint characterization model for LCA that describes the relation between GHG emissions and marine biodiversity loss?



# Methods

## Chapter 2. Methods

### 2.1. Life Cycle Assessment

Life Cycle Assessment (LCA) is an analytical method commonly used by industrial ecologists. Its purpose is to understand and assess the impacts of a product or process from cradle-to-grave (Muralikrishna et al., 2017). Cradle-to-grave implies all of the stages from raw material extraction to waste management. The inputs (resources and energy) and the resulting outputs (pollutants and waste) are determined for each of these stages and translated into the extent of their impact on categories such as sustainable resources, biodiversity and climate change (Muralikrishna et al., 2017). LCA is an enabler in terms of choosing the products with life cycles with minimal impact on the environment and society.

### Application of LCA

LCA is a systemic approach with four main phases (Brusseau, 2019). The first phase is the goal and scope in which the object of the study is specified. When the object of the study is determined, the following step is data collection and modelling, known as the inventory phase. The third phase is the impact assessment, referred to as LCIA. The purpose of LCIA is to quantify and evaluating the contributions to the impact categories selected in stage one. The fourth and final phase is the interpretation. This phase is aimed at translating the quantitative results into meaningful outcomes based on the objectives of the researchers and stakeholders involved throughout the life cycle. In the interpretation phase, the impact results are compared with the expectations and with other products, processes or services.

### Development of LCA

The research on the environmental impacts of products began around the 1960s. The initial studies had a relatively narrow focus, involving impact categories based on energy analysis and pollution (Guinee et al., 2011). Before long, the context of analysis became comparative and it was realized that the impacts of most of the products are not predominantly from the use, but rather in life stages such as transport and production (see Figure 4). With these developments, systems perspective and cradle-to-grave analysis were integrated into the assessment of the environmental impact of the consumer products.



Figure 4 Cradle-to-grave stages used in LCA

Guinee et al. (2011) categorize the development of LCA in decades. The two decades from 1970 to 1990 are identified as "Decades of Conception". This period is characterized by the broadening scope of LCA through the additions of emissions, waste and resource requirements of products. Moreover, the first impact assessment method was introduced by the Swiss Federal Laboratories for Materials and Testing in 1984. Throughout the decades of conception, LCA was mainly applied by firms who had diverging interests in performing the assessment, without any standard methodological framework. In order to resolve this challenge, the succeeding decade from 1990 to 2000 became the "Decade of Standardization" (Guinee et al., 2011). Within this decade, "The Code of Practice " established by the Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) and international standards developed by the International Organization requisite of LCA within the given time period. While SETAC focused on harmonizing and optimizing the methods, ISO created international guidelines on how to approach the procedural aspects of the assessment. Impact assessments methods such as endpoint and damage approaches and CML 1992 also developed within this time frame.

Despite the main focus of standardization, ISO 14044, (2006) highlights that "there is no single method for conducting LCA" due to the wide scope of the assessment both in terms of the products and goals of the assessment. With the increasing attention and broadening scope of LCA, the necessity to diversify in methodologies arose. This encompasses the optimization of supporting tools for LCA, development of databases and indicators, and prioritization of transparency and reliability of the assessments. Several institutions such as UNEP and SETAC launched initiatives and partnerships to focus on these improvements and LCA evolved into becoming one of the primary analytical tools for decision-making regarding sustainable development (Brusseau, 2019). To understand the unprecedented impacts of anthropogenic

actions, LCA methodologies are under continuous development. The temporal and spatial specifications of the impacts are researched, impact categories are improved and novel indicators are developed.

### 2.2. Ecotoxicology Impact Assessment Approach for LCA

The methodological framework of this thesis was formulated based on the ecotoxicology impact assessment approach for LCA, as described by Rosenbaum (2016).

Methodologies for including ecotoxicity as an indicator category in LCA originate from the field of environmental hazard and risk assessments. Within the last decade, the maturity of these approaches became sufficient to be widely used in the application of impact assessments. The ecotoxicological approach aims to quantify the effects of environmental alterations caused by chemicals on biological systems. These effects are measured for specific chemicals in a specific environment. For OA, these chemicals are the GHG emissions and the environment is the ocean. This cause and effect process begins from the source of emission and ends in the response of biological systems. To assess the effects, toxicological tests are utilized. These tests estimate the relationship between the concentration and the effect of the chemicals on certain species. The level of toxicity of the given chemical, the characteristics of the exposed environment and the biological systems within this environment are key variables in determining the extent of the effect. Another variable is the duration and intensity of exposure of the life forms in that medium to the chemical. Understanding the variables and the interaction between them along the impact path can be rather complex. Thus, cause-effect pathways are utilized to understand and analyse these environmental impact mechanisms.

Cause-effect pathways establish the causal relationship between the environmental interventions and their effects, from the release of the chemicals to the environment to their impact on ecosystems (see Figure 5). Once this pathway is established for a chemical, different category indicators can be chosen for application by practitioners. A category indicator is "a quantifiable representation of an impact category" (ISO 14040, 2006). This choice is commonly made considering the goal of the assessment and the type of input data, and it depends on the availability of a mature methodology for that category indicator.



*Figure 5 Structure of the endpoint-oriented model based on Eco-Indicator 99 methodology (Goedkoop, M., & Spriensma, R., 2001)* 

Cause-effect pathways in the ecotoxicological approach can be translated into impact indicators for LCIA through 2 different methods. These two methods are referred as midpoint and endpoint models which represent the impact in different stages of the chain (Bare et al., 2000). Midpoint indicators focus on the effects that are earlier in the cause-effect chain, relatively closer to the interventions (Goedkoop, M., & Spriensma, R., 2001). The uncertainty of the results increases as one moves further in the causal chain, so the midpoint models commonly have the advantage of relying on robust data and scientific information with a higher degree of reliability (Bare et al., 2000). Endpoint indicators, on the other hand, present the results closer to the actual effect that represents greater relevancy to decision-makers (Bare et al., 2000). In the case of OA, the change in the acidity of the ocean is reflected by the midpoint indicator. This environmental mechanism has a higher level of certainty and robustness. Although the level of uncertainty increases with increasing complexity further along the chain, the endpoint indicator provides the actual effect of this mechanism on an ecosystem by quantifying the loss of marine biodiversity (see Figure 6). Endpoint modelling is the selected approach for this thesis to be able to communicate the effects of OA on biodiversity.



Figure 6 Simplified version of the cause-effect chain for OA including midpoint and endpoint indicators, based on Bach et al. (2016)

To construct the endpoint model for OA with a mechanistic approach, the cause-effect chain is evaluated in separate sections. As explained above, the midpoint model reflects the change in pH of the ocean due to airborne GHG emissions (Figure 6). This requires the modelling of the fate of the emissions from source to dissolution in the ocean. For the endpoint model, this factor needs to be complemented with the extent of exposure and responses of the marine species. This way, the extent of damage on marine biodiversity can be established in relation to the GHG emissions (Figure 6). According to Rosenbaum et al. (2016), these sections of the cause-effect chain are reflected in 4 distinct models for toxic chemicals (in this case, GHG emissions);

- (1) The fate model,
- (2) The exposure model,
- (3) The effect model,
- (4) The damage model.

The definitions and modelling approaches are explained further under the *Chapters 2.3, 2.4* and 2.5. These models are used as factors to calculate an endpoint characterization factor for OA. This approach is elaborated in *Chapter 2.6*. Data is categorized to further understand whether there are geographic, taxonomic or time-based differences in species responses.

### Research Flow Diagram



### 2.3. Fate and Exposure Models

The objective of the fate model method is to explore the effect of GHG emissions on the OA. The fate model expresses the probability of a substance entering a specific environment. It is the initial step of modelling the mechanisms of ecotoxicity impacts of a substance for LCA (Rosenbaum, 2015). The type of the medium and the geography of the source of the emissions affect the behaviour of the chemicals. For the case of OA, the emissions are released directly into the air and then a certain percentage of them dissolve in the ocean, altering the acidity levels of the water. The fate model for OA is intended to denote the extent of this change in water chemistry on a global level.

The exposure model on the other hand expresses the contact between a target species and the pollutant, which is elucidated by the concept of bioavailability (Rosenbaum, 2015). It covers the duration and frequency of exposure to a substance and is influenced by the amount of chemical available within the given medium. In the case of OA, the probability of the partial reactions in Eq. 1.2.1 is taken into consideration to account for bioavailability. Homogeneity is assumed in terms of exposure of the organisms to chemical composition change along the global ocean surface area. The reason for this assumption is that the airborne emissions dissolve in the ocean surface and it is not within the scope of this research to account for the changes in the bioavailability of the dissolved hydrogen ions in different geographical locations and along the different depths of the ocean.

The chemical behaviour of  $CO_2$  in ocean water is well-known and denoted by Eq. 1.2.1, as previously described in *Chapter 1.2*. Moreover, the current ocean carbon cycle models enable the estimation of variations in ocean carbonate chemistry in relation to atmospheric  $CO_2$ concentrations (Doney et al., 2009). Having established quantitative models that operate on a global scale makes it possible to construct a fate model for OA that is aligned with the LCA method. In the paper "Characterization model to assess ocean acidification within life cycle assessment", Bach et al. (2016) develop a midpoint characterization model based on the causeeffect chain. The midpoint model utilizes the fate model to calculate the characterization factor for OA. In this thesis, the methodological steps of Bach et al. (2016) were followed to construct the fate model, in order to quantify the impacts of GHG emissions on ocean chemistry. The midpoint characterization factor in this model is Ocean Acidification Potential (OAP), which is the product of the fate factor (per elementary flow *i*) and the fate sensitivity factor (see Eq. 2.3.1). The fate sensitivity factor as denoted by Bach et al. (2016) is reflective of the exposure model described by Rosenbaum (2015). The exposure model was therefore included as the fate sensitivity factor within this modelling approach.

Ocean Acidification Potential<sub>i</sub> = Fate Factor<sub>i</sub> 
$$\times$$
 Fate Sensitivity Factor<sub>i</sub> (2.3.1)

The fate factor represents the portion of the substances ending up in the ocean and is calculated by Eq. 2.3.2. To answer SQ1, the first step is to identify the elementary flows in terms of their relevance to this impact category. In the case of OA,  $CO_2$ ,  $CH_4$  and CO were determined as the most significant emissions (Bach et al., 2016) and therefore selected as the elementary flows.  $CO_2$  can directly dissolve in the water, however,  $CH_4$  and CO need to be converted into  $CO_2$  before entering the ocean. The conversion factor in Eq. 2.3.2 represents the share of these substances ( $CH_4$  and CO) that are converted to  $CO_2$ . The conversion reactions occur in the troposphere through  $OH^-$  ions (Wuebbles and Hayhoe, 2002). This induces the need to start by calculating the percentage of substances entering the troposphere, which is expressed by the distribution factor. This calculation was done using the values obtained from the literature. The unit of the conversion factor is  $g_{CO2}/g_i$ .

Fate Factor<sub>i</sub> = Distribution<sub>i</sub> × Conversion<sub>i</sub> × Dissolution<sub>i</sub> (2.3.2)

Ultimately, the dissolution factor was computed to account for the fact that the environmental compartment within the model is water. Only 25-30% of the atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> dissolves in the ocean and the rest remains in the atmosphere as GHGs, contributing to global warming (IPCC, 2013). The dissolution factor integrates this dissolving percentage of the substance into the fate factor and was calculated by the ratio of the overall amount of dissolved CO<sub>2</sub> over the overall share of CO<sub>2</sub> able to be dissolved (see Eq. 2.3.3). The latter is equal to the sum of shares of the 3 elementary flow that are able to dissolve (see Eq. 2.3.4). The shares of substances able to dissolve are the product of distribution and conversion factors for the given substance.

Dissolution Factor<sub>i</sub> = Overall amount of dissolved  $CO_2$  / Overall share of  $CO_2$  able to be dissolved (2.3.3)

The overall share of  $CO_2$  able to be dissolved = share of CO able to dissolve + share of  $CO_2$  able to dissolve + share of  $CH_4$  able to dissolve (2.3.4)

The dissolution factor is the same for all the substances because  $CO_2$  is the only chemical composition from the 3 elementary flows that can directly dissolve in the ocean. Thus, the dissolution factor can be calculated after knowing the share of  $CO_2$  available in the troposphere, including the  $CO_2$  converted from CO and CH4. However, the conversion and distribution factors are different per substance. Consequently, after determining the common dissolution factor, fate factors for CO,  $CO_2$  and CH4 were calculated separately. Unit of the fate factors is  $g_{CO2}/g_i$  as the distribution and dissolution factors are unitless whereas the unit of the conversion factor is  $g_{CO2}/g_i$ .



Figure 7 Distribution, conversion and dissolution pathways of CO2, CO and CH4 based on Bach et al. (2016)

Fate sensitivity factor denotes the alterations in the ocean chemistry due to the dissolution of the substances. The approach of Heijungs et al. (1992) for terrestrial and freshwater acidification was utilized to determine the fate sensitivity factor. The primary effect from the cause-effect chain (the amount of  $H^+$  released per gram of substance) was selected as the category indicator as recommended by Bach et al. (2016).

The probability of each reaction taking place is different within the chemical balance denoted by Eq. 1.2.1. Accordingly, to determine the fate sensitivity factor, the number of released H+ ions was calculated per reaction, incorporating the probability of that reaction taking place. Then this number was divided by the molar mass (g/mol) of CO<sub>2</sub>, which leads to the fate sensitivity factor with the unit of mol/gcO<sub>2</sub>. Similar to the dissolution factor, the fate sensitivity factor is the same for all 3 substances as the focal point is dissolution, which always occurs in the form of CO<sub>2</sub>. Having computed the fate sensitivity factor and the fate factors for each substance, the OAP can now be calculated by Eq. 2.3.2 to conclude the fate model and exposure models. Through the multiplication of the fate (gcO<sub>2</sub>/g<sub>i</sub>) and fate sensitivity factors (mol/gcO<sub>2</sub>), the OAP has the unit of mol/g<sub>i</sub>, where i = CO<sub>2</sub>, CO, CH<sub>4</sub>.

### 2.4. Effect Model

The effect model denotes the percentage of species that become affected by the exposure of the chemical in the given environment (Rosenbaum, 2015). The function of the effect factor is to link and translate the pH change in the ocean into an ecosystem damage indicator; marine biodiversity loss. The effects are typically measured by standardized lab tests and "effect" can have many meanings such as reduced growth, calcification, mortality and oxygen consumption rates. The results of these lab tests are commonly reported with dose-response curves which denote the response of the species to chemical exposure as a function of the concentration of the chemical in the environment (Spurgeon et al., 2020). USEtox model, which is endorsed by Rosenbaum (2015), calculates the effect factor by looking at the hazardous concentration (HC<sub>50</sub>) values. HC<sub>50</sub> stands for the concentration level at which 50% of the species in the ecosystem that are negatively affected and can be determined from the species sensitivity distributions. An SSD is a probabilistic model that reflects the sensitivity of an ecosystem or a collection of species in response to being exposed to a substance (Rosenbaum, 2015).

While the overarching approach remains to be based on the chapter by Rosenbaum (2015), several methods were tested and combined in order to develop an effect model. The main reason for this approach is the issue of data availability. Regardless of the choice of method, the initial step was data collection on species responses to OA. The aim is to calculate a global effect factor that would be used in LCIA, thus the data should be representative of marine species on a global scale. However, due to the vast variety of marine species and ecosystems, it is not currently possible to find and include species response data with full taxon coverage. In order to collect data and ensure representativeness per taxon and geographical area, key meta-analyses were identified through a literature search.

In the article "Towards a meaningful assessment of marine ecological impacts of LCA", Woods et al. (2016) provide an overview of the cause-effect based methods related to the drivers of marine biodiversity loss, including OA. In this study, the authors provide a list of quantitative approaches (Zeebe et al., 2008, Doney et al., 2009, Azevedo et al., 2015) that are recognized by the scientific community. From this list, the most recent study is Azevedo et al. (2015), which is also referred to by Bulle et al. (2019) as the "first LCA compliant model covering marine acidification". Therefore, the method of Azevedo et al. (2015) was initially chosen as the framework for constructing the effect model. In their method, the authors focus on observing the effects of OA on calcifying species through constructing SSDs. The initial approach was to expand the dataset to increase the species scope. However, due to data unavailability, the approach of Azevedo et al. (2015) is not utilized further to construct the effect model. The modelling approach of Azevedo et al. (2015) can be found in Appendix H.

### Data Collection

The next attempt at data acquisition was to construct a list of potential sources of raw data collection. The authors of several key meta-analyses such as Hendriks et al. (2010), Kroeker et al. (2013) and Wittmann et al. (2013) were contacted to gain access to the raw data collections they used to perform these analyses. The datasets acquired from these meta-analyses were analysed in terms of compatibility with the data requirements of the ecotoxicological approach and being the most suitable, the dataset of Wittmann et al. (2013) was selected. The study by Wittman et al. (2013) is a meta-analysis that studies the effects of altered seawater carbonate chemistry on various marine species. Consequently, their analysis approach was adopted in order to be able to work with the data format of the provided dataset. In this dataset, responses of the species to OA are not expressed in terms of effect size, which is the common approach in meta-analyses in this field of research. Instead, the authors collected the species responses from multiple experiments and then categorized these responses as none, negative or positive. The effects are not quantified and there is no distinction between life processes. Non-calcifying species are included within the scope and there are 5 different animal taxa: cnidaria, echinoderms, molluscs, crustaceans and fish. Physiological performance of the species such as growth, morphology, fertilization, behavioural changes, immune response and metabolic rate are collected. Overall, there are 153 species included in the analysis which are further categorized based on the duration of the experiments.

The species responses were analysed across different pco2 ranges which were determined using representative concentration pathways (RCPs) based on the work of Meinshausen et al. (2011). The pco2 bins range from 500-651, 651 - 850, 851 - 1370, 1371 - 2900, 2901 - 10000 and above 10000 µatm (Wittmann et al., 2013). Most of the experimental data include the response measurements for 2 to 3 different pco2 values. To compensate for the missing data for the rest of the pco2 bins, the authors employed 2 main assumptions. The first assumption indicates that if a species shows negative effects at low pco2 levels, then it will also be negatively affected at the higher pco2 levels. The second assumption is that if a species has the same effect at a high and a low pco2 levels, then that effect will be the same for the pco2 levels in between those high and low values. The interpretation of negative, positive and none was done by comparing the results to the effects observed in the control treatments. In most of the studies, the control treatment is approximately around 380 µatm and only the studies before February 2012 were included.

#### Expansion and Processing of the Dataset

For this thesis research, the dataset of Wittmann et al. (2013) was expanded with the purpose of including more data points from the recent scientific literature and to be able to conduct analysis based on different categorizations of data. Pangaea is an Open Access Library for data related to earth system research (Data Publisher for Earth & Environmental Science, 2021). This data source was identified from the paper "Data compilation on biological response to Ocean Acidification: An update" (Yang et. al, 2016) and was used as the data platform to collect more species response data. As previously mentioned, the format of the database requires the responses to be categorized into positive, negative and none. It is claimed by the authors that this categorization is based on expert opinions. In order to be aligned with this approach, only the papers with clear declarations on the trend of the impact - as significantly negative or positive - were added to the dataset, leaving the interpretation to the authors of the articles. This limits the number of studies that can be included in the expansion of the current dataset. If there are multiple experimental data available for a single species and the effects are different from each other for the same pco2 bins, then priority was given to the experiments with the longest duration and then to the results indicating a negative effect.

The additional data collection was performed based on the underrepresented data categories. The data available for the fish species as well as the species that live in polar regions are limited within the dataset from the meta-analysis of Wittmann et al. (2013). The keywords "fish" and "ocean acidification" were used to initiate the literature search within Pangaea in order to collect more responses of fish species. The experiment results between the years 2014 and 2021 were scanned and selected depending on their relevance and their alignment with the criteria explained above. Response types such as metabolic and behavioural effects are included in the fish data. 17 new studies on fish species are added to the dataset (see Appendix A). In order to enlarge the scope of the polar species, two rounds of search were executed. The keyword "OA" was coupled with "arctic" and "antarctic" respectively. The search included studies from 2013 to 2021, which resulted in the addition of 10 new studies from the polar region (see Appendix A).

Overall, the number of scientific studies within the given time frame is larger than the number of data points added to the dataset. There are several reasons for this selective addition. First of all, some species such as Amphiprion percula, Godus morhua and Acanthochromis polyacanthus are repetitively present in the experiments in OA research. For Amphiprion percula, 7 different studies were already included within the dataset for the given species, indicating a negative response across all of the pco2 bins. Therefore, an addition of a new study with a shorter duration did not alter the response results in the dataset. Moreover, some researchers such as Mccormick et al. (2018) or Nagelkerken et al. (2016) examined the effect of OA on the interaction between prey-predators, the symbiotic relationships between different species or the combined effects of OA and temperature change. These types of studies were also excluded due to the multitude of independent variables within the experiments. Another example is the type of studies that looked into the effects of fluctuating aquatic CO<sub>2</sub> as the independent variable is the change in CO<sub>2</sub> pressure rather than a distinct pco2 value. Last but not least, most of the OA experiments focus on highly abundant species such as various algae types, which were not included in the scope of this research.

### Categorizations

Information on both the experiment variables (temperature, duration, type and number of variables, control pressures) and species characteristics (class, habitat) were recorded in the dataset because the response of the marine species to the acidifying ocean is dependent on various factors. Temperature, for instance, is one of these factors and a prominent one. The temperature of the water affects the solubility of aragonite and the saturation state, therefore influences the bioavailability. The effect of temperature on the chemical states and reactions can lead to diverse outcomes in terms of species response. Another variable is the duration of the experiments that were conducted to measure the responses. Longer durations of exposure to a less alkaline environment are expected to increase the rate and extent of the changes occurring within the biological systems. While this remains true, the possibility of adaptation of species over longer durations also remains a valid possibility. In order to understand the impact of some of these variables on the results, the data were categorized into certain sections.

The core categorizations of the species response analysis were geographical zones (temperate, tropical, polar), duration of experiments (acute, sub-acute, chronic) and calcification capability of the taxons (strongly calcifying, slightly calcifying). The reasoning behind the geographical classification is that the rate of OA is different in different latitudes. Polar oceans are considered the most vulnerable regions due to the different saturation states induced by lower temperatures (Schmutter et al., 2017). In terms of calcification, the strongly calcifying taxa were considered as molluscs, echinoderms and cnidaria, whereas the slightly calcifying taxa were grouped as fish and crustaceans based on the approach of Wittmann et al. (2013). The strongly calcifying species have lower metabolic rates, are relatively more sedentary and build heavier skeletons through calcification. Crustaceans and fish, on the other hand, have significantly lower intensity in calcification, higher mobility and better acid-base regulation (Wittmann et al., 2013). Last but not least, the boundaries of categorization in terms of the duration of the experiments are dependent on whether the species is a vertebrate or an invertebrate. From the 5 taxa, fish is vertebrate while the remainder are invertebrates. The distinction was made based on the work of Rosenbaum (2015). Acute duration indicates brief periods of exposure and is measured in relation to the lifetime of the species. Acute exposure duration is <7 days, which is the same for both vertebrates and invertebrates. Chronic experiment duration indicates longer periods of time that would be equivalent to one or more life cycles or sensitive periods of the given species. Sensitive periods describe specific time thresholds at which the species groups become more vulnerable towards negative influences from the environment (Bodin et al., 2011). The chronic period is >32 days for vertebrates and >21 days for invertebrates. The period between acute and chronic was classified as sub-chronic duration.

### Modelling Approach

Following the data collection and processing stages, the effect of OA was modelled. The SSDs were constructed that indicate the relationship between PAF and pH. The data under each category was grouped based on their taxon. To account for the global relative species richness of each taxonomic group, global normalization factors were calculated. The number of extant number of species were obtained from the literature (see Appendix C). These factors represent the ratio of the number of extant species per taxon to the total number of extant species for the 5 taxa (see Appendix C). The total number of global extant species for the taxonomic groups included in this study is calculated as 132,000. For instance, the number of extant species for Echinodermata is found to be 7000. The global normalization factor for this taxon is therefore 7,000/132,000 = 0.053. Weighted averages of the negatively affected fractions per each taxonomic group were obtained using the global normalization factors. In this way, the negatively affected fraction of species per each  $p_{CO2}$  range for each category were obtained.

Due to the assumptions explained in the dataset acquisition section, there are different numbers of responses per each  $pco_2$  bin. In order to account for this, weighing factors were determined as the ratio of the number of species responses within a bin to the total number of responses in that category. Then, the averages of the upper and lower limits of the bins were calculated to have one partial pressure value per PAF. The responses of the control group were recorded as zero because the control groups function as a reference to measure the extent of change. The control pressures of the categories on the other hand are calculated by taking the average of the control pressures of the experiments within the categories. These control values were then used as the initial data point of the regressions.

The ecotoxicological models use the concentration of the chemicals as the independent variable. However, the independent variable for the model at this stage was represented by the pco2, which is partial pressure rather than concentration. Therefore, the mean  $p_{CO2}$  values were converted to pH (see Appendix B). Eq. 2.4.4 expresses the relationship between pH and  $p_{CO2}$  on a global scale and was utilized for this conversion (Feely et al., 2009) (see Figure 8). The negatively affected fraction of species and their associated pH values were then fitted into a non-linear regression using Eq. 2.4.5 to construct the SSDs. Eq. 2.4.5 denotes a species sensitivity curve with a variable slope called hillslope, where A is equal to  $log_{10}HC_{50}$ . HC<sub>50</sub> represents the hazardous concentration level at which 50% of the species are affected.

$$pH = -0.38 \times \ln(p_{co2}) + 10.32 \tag{2.4.4}$$



Figure 8 p<sub>CO2</sub> - pH relationship on a global scale (Feely et al., 2009)

$$Y = \frac{100}{1 + 10^{(A-x) \times B}}$$
(2.4.5)

The original hillslope equation (see Eq. 2.4.6) is a commonly used 4 parameter logistic model for dose-response analysis (Gadakgar et al., 2015). The 4 parameters in this equation are; bottom response, top response, HC<sub>50</sub> and hillslope coefficient. "x" represents the logarithm of dose or concentration, whereas "y" represents the response in a normalized form. Bottom and top values indicate the asymptotes of the non-linear regression. As the response values are represented in percentages, the bottom value was set as 0 and the top as 100. Setting these values as such reveals that Eq. 2.4.5 is a form of Eq. 2.4.6; that the variable "B" in Eq. 2.4.5 is equal to the Hillslope coefficient in Eq. 2.4.6. Hillslope coefficient, also known as the slope factor, is unitless and quantifies the steepness of the curve (Gadakgar et al., 2015). The higher the slope factor, the steeper the slope of the regression (see Figure 9). The slope of the model is indicative of the sensitivity of the species as it denotes the rate of change of the effect with changing pH. In other words, having a steeper slope indicates higher sensitivity to a change in concentration.

$$Y = Bottom + \frac{Top - Bottom}{1 + (\frac{10^{LogHC50}}{10^{X}})^{Hillslope}}$$
(2.4.6)



Figure 9 Hillslope curves indicating different slope values

The models were constructed and analysed in R (see Appendix I). The nls() function, which stands for "nonlinear least squares", was used for finding the two variables (A and B) in Eq. 2.4.5. The function of nls() is to determine the parameter values of nonlinear fits (Baty et al., 2015). The slope factor and pH<sub>50</sub> values (pH value at which 50% of the species are negatively affected) were used to analyse the sensitivity of the species within each category to the change in acidity of the ocean. In ecotoxicology, the SSDs tend to express the increasing effect with increasing concentration. In the case of pH, this is reversed as pH is equal to the negative logarithm of H<sup>+</sup> ions. Therefore, the absolute value of the b value was considered while comparing the slopes of the regressions.

For assessing the goodness of fit of the models, pseudo  $R^2$  values were calculated per SSD. In linear regression, the goodness of fit is generally expressed as  $R^2$ . However, in a non-linear regression,  $R^2$  is considered an inadequate measure (Spiess & Neumeyer, 2010). Instead, modified versions of  $R^2$  such as Cox-Snell, Efron or Nagelkerke  $R^2$  are suggested by the literature for the non-linear models (Smith & McKenna, 2013). Being one of the most commonly utilized Pseudo  $R^2$  versions for non-linear regressions, Nagelkerke  $R^2$  was selected as the statistic for SSDs. The second statistic chosen for analysing the goodness of fit is the residual standard error, which is the standard deviation of the residuals of the regression. Smaller residual standard error values imply better fits.

Once the strength of the models was assessed by obtaining these two statistics, they were compared to each other to evaluate the species response data in different categories. The selected approach for this comparison is the introduction of interaction variables to the free parameters of the models (A and B) (Karaca-Mandic et al., 2012). These variables were added to Eq. 2.4.5 in a way that can move the parameter values up or down and tested against 0. M is the interaction variable for parameter A and N is for parameter B (see Eq. 2.4.7). To account for the different categories within the datasets, (for example, polar species versus tropical

species) a binary indicator variable (ind) was also included in the equation. Both the estimations for the interaction variables and their p values were utilized to analyze whether the difference between model parameters is statistically meaningful enough to calculate individual effect factors. Effect factors were then calculated for the statistically meaningful categorizations and for the SSD constructed using all of the data points.

$$y = \frac{100}{1+10^{(A+M\times ind-x)\cdot(B+N\times ind)}}$$
(2.4.7)

According to Rosenbaum (2015), the effect factor typically has the dimension of PAF and the unit of m<sup>3</sup>/kg. The effect factor is the ratio of 50% change in PAF to the corresponding change in hydrogen ion concentration (see Eq. 2.4.10). The pH values at 0% and 50% PAF values are converted to hydrogen ion concentrations using Eq. 2.4.8. The difference between these two concentrations were calculated using Eq. 2.4.9, which indicates the HC<sub>50</sub> values. The litre in the unit of  $\Delta$ [H<sup>+</sup>] is then converted to m<sup>3</sup>. The effect factor for OA was calculated using Eq. 2.4.10 and has the unit of (PAF) m<sup>3</sup>/mol.

At PAF 50%, $[H^+] = 10^{-pH50}$	
At PAF 0%, $[H^+] = 10^{-pH0}$	(2.4.8)
$10^{-pH50} - 10^{-pH0} = \Delta[H^+]$	(2.4.9)
$EF = \frac{0.5  PAF}{\Delta[H^+]}$	(2.4.10)
#### 2.5. Damage Model

The last model in characterization modelling is the damage. This is also called the severity model and it incorporates the furthest section of the ecotoxicity impact pathway into the endpoint model (see Figure 10). After knowing the effects of a toxic chemical on the biological systems within an environment, the damage model can be constructed by transforming the potentially affected fraction (PAF) of species to the potentially disappeared fraction (PDF) of species, reflecting the damage on ecosystem quality. However, there is no consensus from the scientific community on how to determine PDF (Rosenbaum, 2015). One of the current approaches in LCA, as also utilized in ReCiPe, is assuming that 50 % of the potentially affected fraction of species will disappear from the ecosystem (Rosenbaum, 2015). Therefore, the damage factor was calculated using Eq. 2.5.1.

COTOXICITY IMPACT PATHWAY	LCI4	A METRIC	S
Chemical amount emitted Time-integrated amount in the environment Fate and transport between and degradation in air aquatic and terrestrial environments	FATE FACTOR	FRACTION	
	ECOSYSTEM EXPOSURE FACTOR		
Bioavailable amount exposing species Interaction with and uptake by biota	(e.g. aquatic organisms)		CHARAC-
Potentially affected fraction (PAF) of species Species level Trophic level Ecosystem level	ECOTOXICITY EFFECT FACTOR		FACTOR
Species 1     Producers     All exposed species and trophic levels       Species n     Decomposers     Tophic levels	FCOSYSTEM	ECOSYSTEM QUALITY EFFECT FACTOR	
Potentially disappeared fraction (PDF) of species Damage on ecosystem quality	QUALITY SEVERITY FACTOR		

#### PDF = PAF / 2

(2.5.1)

Figure 10 Conceptual representation of ecotoxicity impact pathway in life cycle impact assessment (LCIA) (Angeler et al., 2019)

#### 2.6. Characterization Model

The characterization model indicates the relation between an elementary flow and its impact through the characterization factor (see Figure 10). The ISO 14040 (2006) definition of the characterization factor is: "a factor derived from a characterisation model which is applied to convert the assigned LCI results of the common unit of the category indicator". The model is constructed in relation to a specific category indicator. As discussed previously, for OA, the midpoint category indicator was selected as OAP and the endpoint indicator as the loss of marine biodiversity. The third sub-research question was answered by employing the results of the first two sub-questions. Fate, exposure, effect and damage factors were calculated to answer these questions. As explained in *Chapters 2.3 and 2.5*, the exposure factor was already integrated into the fate model and the severity factor was obtained by translating PAF to PDF by multiplying with 0.5. Consequently, the characterization factor for the endpoint environmental mechanism of OA was determined by multiplying the fate, exposure, effect and damage factors (see Eq.2.6.1), which links the OAP at the midpoint to marine biodiversity loss at the endpoint. The unit of the endpoint characterization factor is (PDF) m<sup>3</sup>/kg-GHG emitted.

 $Characterization Factor = Factor \times Exposure Factor \times Effect Factor \times Damage Factor \qquad (2.6.1)$ 

<u>3</u>

# Results

### Chapter 3. Results

#### 3.1. Fate and Exposure Model Results

In this chapter, the results of the fate and exposure models are provided to answer the first subquestion; *"How do GHG emissions affect ocean acidification?"*.

The fate and exposure model results are based on the work of Bach et al. (2016). As can be seen in Table 1, there are 3 different OAPs, each for a different GHG emission. CO<sub>2</sub> is the chemical that dissolves in the ocean; therefore, the distribution and conversion factors are equal to 1. Thus, CO<sub>2</sub> has the highest potential for changing the pH of the ocean compared to CO and CH<sub>4</sub> (OAP<sub>CO2</sub> =  $2.47 \times 10^{-3}$  mol H<sup>+</sup>/g<sub>GHG</sub>). Though having similar values with CH<sub>4</sub>, CO has the lowest distribution factor compared to the other two substances (0.871). However, due to having a lower conversion factor compared to CO, CH<sub>4</sub> has the lowest acidification potential (OAP<sub>CH4</sub> =  $2.05 \times 10^{-3}$  mol H<sup>+</sup>/ g<sub>GHG</sub>). The fate sensitivity factors are representative of the exposure factors and are equal for all of the emission types ( $2.45 \times 10^{-2}$  mol H<sup>+</sup>/g co<sub>2</sub>). Further explanations and calculations to obtain the results in Table 1 can be found in Appendix D.

	CO	CH <sub>4</sub>	CO <sub>2</sub>
Distribution Factor	0.871	0.878	1
Conversion Factor (gco2/gghg)	1	0.95	1
Dissolution Factor	0.1008	0.1008	0.1008
Fate Sensitivity Factor (mol H <sup>+</sup> /g <sub>CO2</sub> )	$2.45 \times 10^{-2}$	$2.45 \times 10^{-2}$	$2.45 \times 10^{-2}$
$OAP \ (mol \ H^+/\ g_{GHG})$	$2.15 \times 10^{-3}$	$2.06 \times 10^{-3}$	$2.47 \times 10^{-3}$

Table 1 Results of the Fate and Exposure Model for the 3 elementary flows

#### 3.2. Effect Model Results

In this chapter, the results of the effect model are provided to answer the second sub-question; *"How does the change in ocean acidity affect the marine species richness?"*. The effect of the alterations of ocean carbonate chemistry on species richness is analysed. Within each categorical comparison, model parameters, the goodness of fit results and statistical significance of the difference between groups are presented.

#### Calcification Category Results

There are two groups in this categorization: "(strongly) calcifying species" and "slightly calcifying species". The calcifying species consist of 3 taxonomic groups: mollusca, echinodermata and cnidaria, overall including 96 species responses. The slightly calcifying species consist of 80 species responses from 2 taxonomic groups: fish and crustacea. As explained in *Chapter 2*, the calcifying species are expected to be affected more by OA than the remainder of the species groups. This assumption is tested by constructing SSDs, which is shown in Figure 11.



Figure 11 SSDs of calcifying and slightly calcifying species

The goodness of fit of these regressions are analysed by looking at the Pseudo R<sup>2</sup> and RSE values. Although the R<sup>2</sup>s are quite similar for these two groups, slightly calcifying species SSD has a slightly better fit compared to calcifying species ( $R^{2}_{scal} = 0.898 > R^{2}_{cal} = 0.870$ ). This is also endorsed by the higher RSE of the calcifying SSD (RSE<sub>cal</sub> =11.90), indicating a larger error compared to the other regression (RSE<sub>scal</sub> = 9.52).

*Table 2 Model parameters, number of species, average control pH values (pH<sub>0</sub>) and goodness of fit results for category "calcification"* 

Category	рН <sub>50</sub>	Hillslope	Number of Species	Average pH <sub>0</sub>	ΔрН	Pseudo R <sup>2</sup>	RSE
Calcifying species	7.743	-2.447	96	8.046	0.303	0.870	11.90
Slightly calcifying species	7.581	-1.891	80	7.983	0.402	0.898	9.52

By looking at the graphs (see Figure 11), it can be seen that there is a difference in the predicted values, especially at lower pH levels. The gap between the two regression lines is narrowing down with the increasing pH. Beyond this visual interpretation, the difference between the SSDs of calcifying and slightly calcifying species is assessed by utilizing the estimated model parameters. The calcifying species have a higher pH<sub>50</sub> value (7.743) compared to the slightly calcifying species (7.581). This implies that 50% of the calcifying species are already negatively affected at higher pH values (lower CO<sub>2</sub> pressure). Furthermore, the calcifying species (1.891), highlighting a higher sensitivity. The percentage of the negative responses changes more rapidly by increasing acidity when the slope is higher. The difference between the control and pH<sub>50</sub> values endorse this trend as well. At control pH (pH<sub>0</sub>), the negatively affected percentage of species is equal to zero for all categories. A pH change of 0.303 is required for 50% of the calcifying species to be affected. This value is higher for slightly calcifying species (0.402). To sum up, all of the indicators of sensitivity (pH<sub>50</sub>, slope and  $\Delta$ pH) confirm that the calcifying species are indeed more sensitive to OA.

*Table 3 Interaction term test results for calcification category, including the estimated values for the differences between the model parameters and their p-values* 

	Estimation	p-value
M	0.199	0.031
N	-0.501	0.576

The statistical significance of the difference between the categories is tested to validate the decision to calculate separate effect factors for this category. It is assumed that the p-value at 0.05 for the estimation of the interaction terms is significant. The difference between the  $pH_{50}$  values (M) is estimated to be 0.199 with a p-value of 0.031. This error rate is lower than the selected significance threshold and therefore considered acceptable. The p-value for the differences in slopes of the regressions (N) is not significant enough with a p-value of 0.576. However, the test results are considered to confirm the hypothesis on the difference between categories as one of the model parameters is statistically significant. Therefore, the effect factors are calculated for both groups within this category.

Effect factor for calcifying species:

At PAF 50%, 
$$[H^+] = 10^{-7.743} = 1.807 \times 10^{-8} \ mol/L$$
  
At PAF 0%,  $[H^+] = 10^{-8.046} = 8.994 \times 10^{-9} \ mol/L$   
 $\Delta[H^+] = 9.077 \times 10^{-9} \frac{\text{mol}}{\text{L}} * \left(\frac{1000 \text{L}}{1m^3}\right) = 9.077 \times 10^{-6} \ mol/m_3$   
 $EF_{cal} = \frac{0.5 \ PAF}{9.077 \times 10^{-6} \ mol/m^3} = 5.508 \times 10^4 \ (PAF) \ m^3/\ mol$ 

Effect factor for slightly calcifying species:

At PAF 50%, 
$$[H^+] = 10^{-7.581} = 2.624 \times 10^{-8} \ mol/L$$
  
At PAF 0%,  $[H^+] = 10^{-7.983} = 1.039 \times 10^{-8} \ mol/L$   
 $\Delta[H^+] = 1.584 \times 10^{-8} \frac{\text{mol}}{\text{L}} \times \left(\frac{1000\text{L}}{1m^3}\right) = 1.584 \times 10^{-5} \text{mol}/m^3$   
 $EF_{scal} = \frac{0.5 \ PAF}{1.584 \times 10^{-5} \ mol/m^3} = 3.165 \times 10^4 \ (PAF) \ m^3/mol$ 

The fraction of the potentially affected species is higher for calcifying species (EF<sub>cal</sub> =  $5.508 \times 10^4$  (*PAF*)  $m^3$ / mol) compared to slightly calcifying species (EF<sub>scal</sub> =  $3.165 \times 10^4$  (*PAF*)  $m^3$ / mol).

#### **Climate Zones Category Results**

There are three groups in this categorization: "polar species", "temperate species" and "tropical species". The polar species category includes 21 species, which is the least amount of data points compared to the other two categories. The temperate region with 73 species and the tropical region with 82 species are close to each other in terms of the number of data points. SSDs of the species from these 3 regions are constructed to explore whether there are differences in the effect of OA on species based on geographical differences (see Figure 12). The goodness of fit of the polar region SSD is the lowest amongst the 3 groups ( $R^2_{polar} = 0.837$ , RSE = 14.30). Both the temperate and tropical categories have  $R^2$  values higher than 0.9, indicating better fits of models. Tropical region SSD has a better fit compared to the other groups by having both the lowest RSE (8.67) and highest  $R^2$  (0.959).



Figure 12 SSDs of species from polar, temperate and tropical regions

Even though the difference is not large between the 3 groups, the SSDs show that the most sensitive group is the species from the polar region. The temperate and tropical SSDs are overlapping, especially within the pH range between 7 and 8. Polar SSD is positioned more towards the right side of the graph (see Figure 12) with a higher pH<sub>50</sub> value (7.790) compared

to the temperate (7.703) and tropical (7.686) regions, which are almost the same. The temperate region has the highest slope value (2.943) in comparison to the other two regions. The difference between the control pH and pH<sub>50</sub> ( $\Delta$ pH) for the polar species group is equal to 0.264, which is the smallest value amongst the 3 groups.

Category	<i>pH</i> 50	Hillslope	Number of Species	Average pH <sub>0</sub>	∆рН	Pseudo R <sup>2</sup>	RSE
Polar	7.790	-2.593	21	8.055	0.264	0.837	14.30
Temperate	7.703	-2.943	73	7.986	0.283	0.916	9.35
Tropical	7.686	-2.429	82	8.043	0.357	0.959	8.67

Table 4 Model parameters, number of species, average control pH values and goodness of fit results for category "climate zones"

To understand if the model parameters statistically differ between the 3 groups, interaction variables are introduced and tested. As the indicator variable is selected as binary in the interaction term test, 2 groups are tested against each other at a time. The p-values of all of the tests show that there is no statistically significant (p > 0.05) difference between the 3 SSDs (see Table 5). The small difference between the temperate and tropical SSDs is also seen from the high p-value of the test between the groups (0.823). Consequently, no separate effect factors are calculated for the climate zones category.

Table 5 Interaction term test results for climate zones category, including the estimated values for the differences between the model parameters and their p-values

Test		Estimation	p-value
	M	0.072	0.378
Polar vs. Temperate	N	0.102	0.944
Polar vs. Tropical	М	0.097	0.259
	N	-0.239	0.860
Temperate vs. Tropical	М	0.025	0.680
	N	-0.342	0.731

#### **Duration Category Results**

The exposure lengths of the marine species to acidic environments are different in each experiment. To test whether there is a difference in responses to shorter and longer exposure durations, the data is divided into 3 groups. The first group is "acute responses" which includes the experiments that are less than 7 days of exposure. 58 of the experiments belong to this category. Another one of these 3 groups is "chronic responses". This group has the highest number of species responses (78). Chronic indicates longer exposure to an acidic environment. The third group is the "sub-chronic responses" with 40 experiments.

When a species is exposed to a substance for longer durations, the primary assumption is that the effects will be more severe. However, there is also the possibility of adaptation and alterations in behaviour throughout those longer exposure times. With the purpose of assessing the impact of this time variable on the species response, SSDs are constructed per group (see Figure 12). The acute SSD has the lowest RSE (6.34) amongst the 3 groups (RSE<sub>chronic</sub> = 10.40, RSE<sub>subchronic</sub> = 10.60). Even though this is the case, all 3 SSDs are considered good fits due to having R<sup>2</sup> value higher than 0.9.



Figure 13 SSDs of species groups with different groups of experiment durations (acute, chronic, sub-chronic)

The highest pH<sub>50</sub> value (7.805), as well as the steepest slope (3.454), belong to the sub-chronic group. This shows that the sub-chronic responses have a high sensitivity in terms of responding to acidification. It is visible in Figure 13, acute and chronic models are eminently similar. The pH<sub>50</sub> of the chronic group (7.698) is very close to the value of the acute group (7.674); the difference between the pH<sub>50</sub> of these two models is as low as 0.024. A pH change of 0.359 is required for 50% of the species to get affected for the acute group whereas this difference is equal to 0.312 for the chronic group.

Category	<i>pH</i> 50	Hillslope	Number of Species	Average pH <sub>0</sub>	∆рН	Pseudo R <sup>2</sup>	RSE
Acute	7.674	-2.738	58	8.033	0.359	0.921	6.34
Sub- chronic	7.805	-3.454	40	8.023	0.218	0.912	10.60
Chronic	7.698	-2.585	78	8.010	0.312	0.935	10.40

Table 6 Model parameters, number of species, average control pH values and goodness of fit results for category "duration"

The significance of the difference between the SSDs is tested by the introduction of the interaction terms (see Table 7). The similarity between the acute and chronic SSDs are confirmed with the high p-values for both parameter estimations (Mp-value = 0.891, Np-value = 0.826). As none of the p values for the model parameters reveal statistical significance (p < 0.05), these SSDs are not utilized for calculation of separate effect factors.

 Table 7 Interaction term test results for duration category, including the estimated values for the differences between the model parameters and their p-values

Test		Estimation	p-value
Acute vs. Subchronic	М	0.074	0.337
	N	-0.570	0.056
Acute vs. Chronic	M	0.010	0.891
	N	-0.239	0.826
Chronic vs. Subchronic	M	0.064	0.393
	N	-0.332	0.694

#### Main SSD Results & Effect Factor

All of the species response data (in total 176 species) is utilized to construct the main SSD (see Figure 14). There are 5 different taxonomic groups within the dataset which include varying numbers of extant species. The model parameters obtained from this SSD (see Table 8) are utilized to calculate the global effect factor for the endpoint characterization model. The SSD has a good fit with the Pseudo  $R^2$  value of 0.961.



Figure 14 Main SSD including species response data from the 5 taxonomic groups

Table 8 Model parameters, number of species, average control pH values and goodness of fit results for the main SSD

Category	<b>pH</b> 50	Hillslope	Number of Species	Average pH <sub>0</sub>	∆рН	Pseudo R <sup>2</sup>	RSE
All species	7.649	-2.167	176	8.009	0.360	0.961	9.409

The main SSD has a pH<sub>50</sub> value of 7.649 and the hillslope of 2.167. The pH difference required for the percentage of affected species to become 50% is 0.360. The effect factor for the global characterization model is calculated using the pH<sub>50</sub> value of this SSD. First the hydrogen ion concentration at PAF = 0 and PAF = 0.5 are calculated from the pH values obtained from the SSD to calculate HC<sub>50</sub>.

At PAF 50%, 
$$[H^+] = 10^{-7.649} = 2.243 \times 10^{-8} mol/L$$
  
At PAF 0%,  $[H^+] = 10^{-8.009} = 9.795 \times 10^{-9} mol/L$ 

The difference between these two concentrations is calculated as:

$$\Delta[H^+] = 1.264 \times 10^{-8} \frac{\text{mol}}{\text{L}} \times \left(\frac{1000\text{L}}{1m^3}\right) = 1.264 \times 10^{-5} \text{mol}/m_3$$

The ratio of  $\triangle PAF$  and  $\triangle concentration gives the effect factor as:$  $<math>EF = \frac{0.5 PAF}{1.264 \times 10^{-5} mol/m^3} = 3.954 \times 10^4 (PAF) m^3 / mol$ 

#### 3.3. Characterization Model Results

Characterization factors are calculated and presented in this chapter to answer the third subquestion: "What is the OA endpoint characterization model for LCA that describes the relation between GHG emissions and marine biodiversity loss?" Additionally, characterization factors for the calcifying and slightly calcifying species are provided based on the effect factors calculated in *Chapter 3.2*.

#### Main Characterization Factors

The fate factors, effect and damage factors are utilized to calculate the characterization factors using Eq. 2.6.1. The g<sub>GHG</sub> in the unit of the OAP is converted to kg<sub>GHG</sub> by multiplying the results with 1000. Furthermore, the damage factor is incorporated into the characterization model by converting PAF to PDF using Eq. 2.5.1. The calculations for obtaining the characterization factor for the main SSD can be found below (see Eqs. 3.3.1, 3.3.2, 3.3.3.):

$$CF_{CH4} = \left(\frac{2.06 \times 10^{-3} \ mol}{g_{GHG}}\right) \times \left(\frac{1000 g_{GHG}}{1 k g_{GHG}}\right) \times \left(\frac{3.954 \times 10^4 (PAF) m^3}{mol}\right) \times \frac{1 \ (PDF)}{2 \ (PAF)}$$
  
= 4.072 × 10<sup>4</sup> (PDF) m<sup>3</sup> / k g\_{GHG} (3.3.1)

$$CF_{CO} = \left(\frac{2.15 \times 10^{-3} \ mol}{g_{GHG}}\right) \times \left(\frac{1000 g_{GHG}}{1 k g_{GHG}}\right) \times \left(\frac{3.954 \times 10^4 (PAF) m^3}{mol}\right) \times \frac{1 \ (PDF)}{2 \ (PAF)}$$
  
= 4.251 \times 10^4 (PDF) m^3 / k g\_{GHG} (3.3.2)

$$CF_{CO2} = \left(\frac{2.47 \times 10^{-3} \ mol}{g_{GHG}}\right) \times \left(\frac{1000 \ g_{GHG}}{1 \ k \ g_{GHG}}\right) \times \left(\frac{3.954 \times 10^4 \ (PAF) \ m^3}{mol}\right) \times \frac{1 \ (PDF)}{2 \ (PAF)}$$
  
= 4.883 × 10<sup>4</sup> (PDF) m<sup>3</sup>/k \ g\_{GHG} (3.3.2)

OAPs of the 3 elementary flows are linked to marine biodiversity loss through PDF within the characterization model. CO<sub>2</sub> has the highest characterization factor  $(4.883 \times 10^4 (PDF)m^3 / kg_{GHG})$  due to having the highest OAP. CF for CO<sub>2</sub> indicates that for each kg of CO<sub>2</sub> emitted, the relative species loss will be higher compared to CO and CH<sub>4</sub>.

Table 9 Endpoint characterization factor results for OA for the 3 elementary flows (CO, CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>)

$$CF_{CH4}$$
 (PDF) $m^3/kg_{GHG}$  $CF_{CO}$  (PDF) $m^3/kg_{GHG}$  $CF_{CO2}$  (PDF) $m^3/kg_{GHG}$ 4.072 × 10<sup>4</sup>4.251×10<sup>4</sup>4.883×10<sup>4</sup>

#### Calcification Category Characterization Factors

The results for the calcifying and slightly calcifying species are calculated (see Appendix F for calculations) using the same method as the main SSD of calculations. Due to having a higher effect factor both in comparison to the main SSD and the slightly calcifying group, calcifying species have the highest characterization factor values.

 Table 10 Endpoint characterization factor results for OA for calcifying species and slightly calcifying species, for the 3 elementary flows (CO, CO2, CH4)

	CF <sub>CH4</sub> (PDF)m <sup>3</sup> /kg <sub>GHG</sub>	CF <sub>CO</sub> (PDF)m <sup>3</sup> /kg <sub>GHG</sub>	CF <sub>CO2</sub> (PDF)m <sup>3</sup> /kg <sub>GHG</sub>
Calcifying species	5.673×10 <sup>4</sup>	$5.921 \times 10^{4}$	$6.802 \times 10^{4}$
Slightly calcifying species	$3.260 \times 10^{4}$	$3.402 \times 10^4$	$3.909 \times 10^4$



# Discussion

### Chapter 4. Discussion

#### 4.1. Relevance of Research

It is of vital importance to develop a new paradigm to guide policymakers in integrating the development of societies and maintaining ecosystem stability (Steffen et al., 2015). The planetary boundaries framework is constructed by an international group of scientists to support such development, exploring the limits of reversibility of the changes imposed on planet earth by humanity. OA and biosphere integrity (expresses the loss of biodiversity) are two of the nine planetary boundaries within this framework that are related to this research. OA is currently below the safe boundary (see Figure 15). On the other hand, the rate of change in the ecosystems and biodiversity, especially in terms of genetic diversity, is already in the zone of high risk with serious impacts (Steffen et al., 2015) (see Figure 15). To tackle this rapid decline in global biodiversity, strategic targets are being determined by associations like the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD). Aichi targets were set until 2020, including strategic goals of to reduce the pressure on biodiversity (4 of them were found relevant to marine biodiversity) (Carr et al., 2020). Following the Aichi targets, new strategic goals were set for the next 10 years and nations began uniting with the aim of reversing the loss of biodiversity. One example of this is the Leaders Pledge for Nature, which involves 10 different commitment areas that are expected to be translated into meaningful actions (United Nations, 2020). To sum up, the awareness on marine acidification and biodiversity is increasing and more research is urgently needed to understand, minimize and tackle the impacts of OA (Fallis, 2013).



Figure 15 Planetary Boundaries diagram (Mahaffy et al., 2019)

The discipline of industrial ecology applies a systematic approach using multiple perspectives from societal, economic and environmental spheres to create a holistic understanding around the anthropogenic impacts. Even though it is currently highly underrecognized, the effects of ecosystem and biodiversity loss cascade through all these spheres. A reduction of biodiversity in marine life implies a reduction of biotic resources for humanity. This is especially visible for corals. Within the 100 km range of coral reefs, the population of people is estimated to be around 400 million. This population mainly rely on aquatic resources to maintain their livelihoods, thus are directly affected by the marine ecological shifts causing issues in food security and safety (Schmutter et al., 2016). Both the fishing and tourism sectors are influenced through the decreased abundance and productivity of marine species (Gascuel & Cheung, 2019). Due to the high complexity of the balances and processes within the ecosystems, unprecedented consequences of rapid marine biodiversity loss beyond these known socio-economic implications are expected in the future.

OA is an environmental stressor that causes a significant threat to marine biodiversity (Gascuel & Cheung, 2019). Therefore, exploration and incorporation of the extent of this threat is highly relevant to the field of IE. LCA is one of the core analytical tools of IE that can represent this threat in a quantitative way. In this thesis research, this quantitative model is established to create a basis of research for exploring further implications of OA and loss of biodiversity.

#### 4.2. Reflections on the results of the research

The SSDs modelled for the 3 categories revealed that the calcifying and slightly calcifying species respond to OA differently, whereas there is no difference in effect in different climate zones or experiment durations. Furthermore, the characterization model results indicate that  $CO_2$  is the GHG with the highest impact on marine biodiversity loss through OA when compared to CO and CH<sub>4</sub>. Reflections on the outcomes of the research and validation of significant results through comparison with scientific literature can be found below.

#### 4.2.1. Calcification SSD

#### Reflections on the Results

OA has varying impacts on different marine organisms. This variation is based on the physiological characteristics of the species groups. Each species has a different range of chemistry in which they optimally function. For instance, the carbonate chemistry in the habitats affect the rate of calcification ability of the organisms. The aragonite saturation state decreases with increasing acidity and as a consequence the calcification rate of the calcifying species declines. Additionally, when the bioavailability of carbonate ions decreases to a level outside this optimal range of operation, more energy needs to be spent to form shells and skeletons (Fallis, 2013). This implies that there is less energy left for other life processes such as growth and fertilization. The effect of reduced aragonite saturation state is therefore not limited to calcification ability (McOwen et al., 2019). Overall, the calcifying organisms are

expected to react more to OA based on the suggestions from scientific literature (Fabry et al., 2008; Azevedo et al., 2015; Kroeker et al., 2013).

The influence of the calcification ability of the marine species on the extent of negative responses to changing pH is tested through modelling separate SSDs for calcifying and slightly calcifying organisms. The SSD models for calcification category indicate that the calcifying species are more sensitive to OA compared to slightly calcifying species. The effect factor for the calcifying group  $(5.508 \times 10^4 (PAF) m^3 / mol)$  is higher than the slightly calcifying group  $(3.165 \times 10^4 (PAF) m^3 / mol)$ . This implies that with each additional mol of hydrogen ions, more species will be potentially affected in the calcifying group. These effect factors can be utilized together with regionalized fate and exposure models in LCIA, especially for the biodiversity hotspots such as coral reefs and conservation areas. Furthermore, separate effect factors for calcifying and slightly calcifying species can be coupled with other relevant biodiversity indicators such as "warm water coral degradation" (Woods et al., 2016) to better understand the extent of impact of multiple stressors such as global warming and ocean acidification.

Reducing and mitigating the effects of OA for all marine species can be done by regulating and decreasing the GHG emissions released to the atmosphere. However, the results indicate that more urgent attention is required to conserve and recover calcifying marine species. This can be done by developing comprehensive conservation strategies for the marine ecosystems that are dense with calcifying organisms such as coral reefs. These ecosystems are facing other major threats along with global warming and OA, such as overharvest, pollution, and destructive fishing practices. Knowing that there is a higher extent of pressure exerted on calcifying species by OA, the focus on relief from other stressors and threating aspects should be amplified to conserve these endangered ecosystems.

Last but not least, it needs to be considered that there is high variability in responses and that genetic adaptation to these changing conditions remains a possibility in the long run (Fallis, 2013). Along with this, other environmental conditions such as nutrient availability, temperatures and light levels in the habitats also have an effect on the physiological conditions of the organism, as well as the ecosystem level impacts. Though it is demanding to set all of these as control variables in the experiments, future studies should incorporate these aspects as much as possible within the modelling processes to obtain more realistic estimations of the responses in near future.

#### Validation of Results

The results obtained from the calcification SSDs are compared to two scientific resources with the purpose of validation. The first comparison is with the study of Wittmann et al. (2013). In this study, the sensitivity results of 5 different taxa are calculated (see Appendix G). For the sake of comparison with the results of this thesis, the  $p_{CO2}$  values corresponding to the 50% PAFs were converted into pH values using Eq. 2.2.4 (see Appendix G). Crustaceans (pH<sub>50</sub> = 7.416) were found to be less sensitive compared to cnidaria, echinoderms and molluscs (pH<sub>50</sub>

= 7.789), while fish (pH<sub>50</sub> = 7.869) show the highest vulnerability (Wittmann et al., 2013). This high vulnerability is explained by Wittmann et al. (2013) through the limited number of fish data included in the dataset. In this research, the dataset of this study was expanded and taxa vulnerabilities were recalculated (refer to Appendix G). While a slightly higher value for pH<sub>50</sub> was obtained for Crustaceans (pH<sub>50</sub> = 7.427), this taxonomic group remained to be the least sensitive to OA. Furthermore, the sensitivity of the fish data was reduced significantly to a pH<sub>50</sub> = 7.23. Overall, when the taxonomic groups are classified as slightly calcifying versus calcifying species, the results of this research and Wittmann's study are aligned. Both results suggest that the calcifying species have a higher sensitivity to OA.

The second comparison is with the study done by Azevedo et al. (2015). 3 different SSDs are constructed by this paper that gives the relation between PAF and pH change in the marine environment. These SSDs are solely focused on calcifying species. Moreover, unlike this research, the categorization of the dataset was made on different life processes: growth (pH<sub>50</sub> = 7.28), survival (pH<sub>50</sub> = 7.35) and reproduction (pH<sub>50</sub> = 7.11). There are some similarities in the trends of the results such as the lack of detrimental effects for the crustaceans and higher sensitivity for highly calcifying species (Azevedo et al., 2015). However, the pH<sub>50</sub> results obtained by Azevedo et al. (2015) are different compared to the ones obtained from the SSD model for calcifying species in this research (pH<sub>50</sub> = 7.74) (see Chapter 3.2 for the model).

Potential reasons for this difference could be listed as; the number of species data utilized to construct the SSDs, the scope of variable types included in the analysis and the differences in modelling methods. 40 out of the 82 species response data was considered detrimental in their SSDs whereas the number of calcifying species data was 96 in this research, which is a higher degree of representativeness of species. In terms of the variables, responses reflecting metabolic changes were excluded from the scope of their model. Such variables were included within the scope of this research. Metabolic changes might be less reflective of the disappeared fraction of species, thus, it could have created a bias in the results obtained from the SSDs. Last but not least, as discussed in Chapter 2.4, due to the data availability, the SSDs were calculated by using the negatively affected fraction of species for the calcifying category rather than obtaining individual pH<sub>50</sub> values for each species before constructing the SSDs. This variation in approaches can be considered as the main reason for the differences in the results.

#### 4.2.2. Climate SSDs

#### Reflections on the Results

Three different climate zones were assessed in this research in terms of the species sensitivity to OA. The results of the analysis revealed that there is no significant difference in the responses of the organisms in the polar, temperate and tropical regions. Therefore, no individual characterization factors were calculated for these regions. This might be due to the resilience and adaptation capabilities of the different species groups that live in these climate zones. The communities may adapt to the variations in pH over the long term and tolerate its effects. Moreover, the results could be biased as the temperatures in the experiments are not

always the same as the habitat temperatures of the species. The seasonal changes within these regions are also not taken into consideration as most of the experiments measured the responses in a fixed environment with a specific temperature. Overall, the results do not indicate a significant species sensitivity variance between the 3 climate zones.

#### 4.2.3. Duration SSDs

#### Reflections on the Results

Both the species and ecosystem-based responses to OA in the long-term is largely unknown (Fabry et al., 2008). It is crucial to model and estimate these effects to determine the right course of action for mitigation. In this research, the SSDs based on experiment duration did not show any significant difference from each other. The chronic and acute responses to a chemical would be expected to differ in severity. However, the results indicate that the sensitivity of acute and chronic groups are the almost the same whereas the sub chronic SSD revealed a higher pH<sub>50</sub> value compared to both acute and chronic responses. As there is no significant difference for based SSDs, it is found that there is no requirement for prioritizing chronic or acute responses for the development of characterization models for OA.

The reasons for obtaining such results could be that the experiments are not considering the pH change in a gradual manner. One being the control group, there tend to be 2-3 different pH levels introduced in separate containers during the experiments. In reality, the species are exposed to pH change incrementally. In longer durations with gradual pH change, the species can adapt to the environment and make trade-offs in terms of energy with other life processes to ensure their survival (Doney et al., 2009). This could lead to lowered sensitivity in chronic experiments. Incorporation of this aspect to future studies might produce more realistic results in terms of the effects of experiment duration. The method of collecting and analysing the species response data could be another point of improvement for the future models. The variables and species types are very different from each other in the dataset that was utilized in this research. The durations are categorized regardless of these types in this study. In future studies, measuring one response type, such as growth rate, for the same species in different durations might reveal the impacts of exposure duration more accurately.

#### 4.2.4. Characterization Model

#### Reflections on the Results

The model consists of 3 different characterization factors that represents the ecosystem damage indicators for OA. CO<sub>2</sub> is the substance with the highest endpoint characterization factor for OA ( $4.833 \times 10^4$ (PDF)m<sup>3</sup>/kg<sub>GHG</sub>). This is a logical result because it has the highest fate factor as there is no chemical conversion required in the atmosphere. This value is the lowest for CH<sub>4</sub> ( $4.072 \times 10^4$ (PDF)m<sup>3</sup>/kg<sub>GHG</sub>) as CH<sub>4</sub> partially reaches the atmosphere and needs to be converted to CO<sub>2</sub>. CO on the other hand has a factor closer to CH<sub>4</sub>. This indicates that the distribution factor has a considerable impact on the fate of these elementary flows.

Obtaining these characterization factors allows for the conversion of the inventory results of the 3 GHG in an LCA study into category indicator results for OA. This will provide insights regarding protection and conservation of marine ecosystems. Knowing the impacts of different GHG enables the practitioners to identify the hotspots and design targeted solutions to reduce the impact on oceans. These characterization factors provide a comprehensive indication of the implications of the impacts of emissions by incorporating the effects further along the cause-effect chain.

#### Validation of Results

Comparing these factors with reference literature is not currently possible. So far, the characterization factor for marine acidification is only calculated by Bulle et al. (2019). In their approach, the fate model utilizes GTP100 as a proxy for marine acidification and the effect model is based on the work of Azevedo et al. (2015), which solely focuses on calcifying species. GTP100 focuses on the temperature change potential in the atmosphere over 100 years only due to CO2 emissions. Beyond these differences, the characterization factors for marine acidification are provided in a different unit (PDF m<sup>2</sup>× yr/kgco<sub>2</sub>), which eliminates the possibility of comparison. Through researching characterization factors for several indicators for the marine environment, it was found that there is a need for harmonization of the units while reflecting biodiversity. This would both make it easier to understand and enable comparison of different indicators in terms of impact.

#### 4.4. Limitations of Research & Suggestions for Further Research

#### Fate and Exposure Models

The fate and exposure models used in this research can be developed further considering several aspects. First of all, not all acidifying substances are included in these models. Examples of such substances are nitrogen and sulphur oxides ( $NO_x$ ,  $SO_x$ ). These chemicals can be directly released into the ocean, especially creating a higher impact in the coastal ecosystems (Pierre et al., 2011), or can react with water in the atmosphere and form acid rain (Bach et al., 2016). Either way, both  $NO_x$  and  $SO_x$  alter the ocean chemistry towards reducing the pH. As a result, the pathways of these emissions need to be explored further to understand their contribution to OA and incorporated into the fate and exposure models for LCIA.

Another significant point is the absence of the time element in the fate and exposure models. The time from the initial pH change until the time the ocean might recover from this change is not represented in the current models. For most of the fate factors, such as GWP, the time aspect (in terms of year or day) is incorporated to consider the temporal scope of the impacts, which represents the duration of the GHGs emissions remaining in the atmosphere. This temporal scope has different implications for different sections of the cause-effect model for OA. The emissions that reach the atmosphere react into different chemical forms and then dissolve in the ocean. This is then followed by a series of reactions within the ocean that result in the alteration of the acidity by the release of H<sup>+</sup> ions. Then, various life processes of the marine species get affected by the gradual pH change. None of these processes occur instantaneously. This would be an of improvement for the models for OA in future research.

Geographical differentiation is yet another aspect that can be considered as an improvement for the fate model for OA. The characteristics of the ocean (such as temperature or salinity) at the point of dissolution might alter the extent of pH change in different regions (Doney et al., 2009). The types of species are also variable in different latitudes. According to literature, 25-30% of the total CO<sub>2</sub> is assumed to be dissolving, but higher accuracy in the dissolution rates can be obtained if regional values are obtained in the future for the fate model. From the 3 climate zones analysed in this research, the polar regions are expected to be more affected by OA compared to temperate and tropical regions (see Figure 16). There are several reasons for this. First of all, polar oceans have lower temperatures. This indicates higher solubility of the atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>, and therefore a higher magnitude of change in surface pH by any additional unit of dissolved CO<sub>2</sub>. Lower temperatures also lead to lower aragonite saturation states as described in *Chapter 1.2*. With lower saturation states, a higher number of species are affected by OA due to lower calcification rates, and dissolving shells and skeletons of organisms (Fallis, 2013). Besides the high temperatures, the reduction of sea ice cover induced by global warming increases the ocean surface area that is in direct contact with the atmosphere. More CO<sub>2</sub> dissolves in the ocean with increasing air-water contact. When this is coupled with the fresh water originating from the melting sheets, the surface ocean pH in polar regions is expected to decrease even more in the near future (Fallis, 2013). Such conditions influence the extent of impact of OA on species richness. Understanding and incorporating these impacts to the fate and exposure models is important to identify the zones and species that require the most immediate attention.



Figure 16 Model-derived maps of historical and projected global ocean pH levels (up) and aragonite saturation states (down), based on Fallis (2013)

Another level of detail for future fate and exposure models would be the incorporation of the vertical differentiation within the ocean (Doney et al., 2009). The CO<sub>2</sub> dissolves from the surface of the ocean, which has a different temperature compared to the bottom of the ocean, and there are different circulation pathways that affect the flow of water from one location to the other. Moreover, the species types and distributions differ in benthic and pelagic regions. With the differences in pH in between these regions, the exposure of different organisms to different pH levels should be considered to develop a more robust exposure factor.

#### Species Response Data

Discovery and synthesis of species response data in this thesis research has proven to be challenging. The research on the impact of OA on marine species gained acceleration within the last two decades. While there were only 18 published papers per year in 2004, this number increased to 365 studies in 2014 (Yang et al, 2016). Despite the recent developments, the research area is still relatively novel which imposes some challenges around data collection. Some of the experimental data are not even archived or not accessible and even if they are, there are several repositories which present the data in different formats. The representation of

the carbonate chemistry, the parameters used for reporting the outcomes of the experiments and their units vary significantly (Yang et al., 2016). This makes it hard to collect and compare the species response data, thus there is a need for harmonization in the reporting of the results in experiment-based OA research.

The taxonomic representativeness of the dataset is open for improvement. The species response data are modelled and evaluated to be reflective of the biological response on a global scale. The overarching challenge in achieving this is the vast number of marine species and ecosystems. The number of estimated species in marine life is around 1.4 - 1.6 million and only 226,000 of them have been identified so far (Bouchet, 2006). Considering only a small fraction of these identified species are utilized in OA experiments, it is not currently possible to find and include species response data with a full taxonomic coverage.

Within the scope of this thesis, 5 different taxa were included (echinodermata, mollusca, cnidaria, fish and crustacea). Photosynthetic organisms which include large taxonomic groups such as phytoplanktons were excluded from the scope. Moreover, geographical location of the species data is not evenly distributed. According to Yang et al. (2016), the majority of the reported responses belong to the species in the Northern Hemisphere. The extent of research for the species in the southern hemisphere and polar regions is still limited. Along with this, the reporting of the habitats of species is not consistent and not always clearly denoted. Some studies indicate the species habitats as the polar region, whereas, in other studies the same species habitat is denoted as temperate region. This can indeed be the case for some species, but it presented challenges in classifying (in terms of habitats) and collating different experiment results for some species.

Lastly, the fact that experimental data is utilized in this analysis creates a limitation as it represents responses in highly specific conditions rather than reflecting the reality. Most of the time the experiments report the responses of cultured organisms that are observed in an isolated environment. The laboratory conditions may impose changes in responses compared to the actual behaviour of the species in their natural habitats. The marine ecosystems are complex and dynamic and involve interactions of the organisms with each other and with the marine environment. This is inevitably excluded in a laboratory setting. The reduction in accuracy is especially the case for the experiments in which interaction-based variables, such as predatory behaviour, are utilized. Moreover, within the marine ecosystems, the chemical balances and temperature are not fixed qualities. However, these are static control variables in the experimental setups, and they are also different in most of the experiments. According to Fallis et al. (2013), mesocosm studies or incorporation of natural gradients could be addressing the complexity of the environment more realistically and thus might be considered as preferable setups for future research to resolve such issues.

#### Effect Modelling Approach

Initially, the method of the study from Azevedo et al. (2015) was initially selected to construct the models. The raw data was not provided by the authors; thus, the supplementary information of the article was utilized to trace back the steps of the method. The experimental data utilized in the calculation of one of the SSD models were acquired and the same approach was applied to test the applicability of the method. Some of the calculations did not lead to the same results as denoted in the publication, therefore, other meta-analyses were examined to obtain raw data. This led to a shift from the original choice of methods to construct the effect model.

The dataset of Wittmann et al. (2013) was used as the base dataset and expanded further to improve the species representativeness for polar regions and fish taxon. The format of the dataset that was constructed by the authors is therefore maintained. There are implications of this format on the choice of the SSD modelling approach. The method suggested by Rosenbaum (2008) and applied by Azevedo et al. (2015) starts with fitting the responses (in relation to the control responses) of a single species into a logistic regression to obtain  $EC_{50}$ values (effect concentration affecting 50% of the individuals). Then, these EC<sub>50</sub> values are utilized in another regression which gives the  $HC_{50}$  value. It wasn't possible to apply this method to the dataset on hand. This is because the responses are recorded as negative, positive or none per each species along 6 p<sub>CO2</sub> bins rather than the values of the actual responses. Therefore, once the negatively affected percentage of species were calculated for the given category, this data is directly fit into a logistic regression to obtain HC<sub>50</sub>. This change in methodology can be considered as a limitation of this research and improvements can be made by applying the Rosenbaum (2008) approach to a similar data scope of species in future research. This way, the method would be fully aligned with the established ecotoxicology impact assessment approach for LCA. Observing the extent of the difference in the results would be interesting to assess the effectiveness of the approach used in this research.

According to Wittmann et al. (2013) crustaceans tend to build lighter skeletons and have a more efficient pH regulation mechanism compared to cnidaria, echinoderms and molluscs. On the other hand, even though fish mostly do not display calcifying structures, some fish species produce CaCO<sub>3</sub> based components such as the otoliths, as well as their skeletons (Grossel, 2019). Therefore, crustaceans and fish are categorized as the slightly calcifying category in this analysis. The choice of categorizing the taxonomic groups as such creates biases in the results. This is due to the gradual differences both between and within the groups. Not all species within these taxonomic groups have the same calcification ability. However, if more distinctions than 5 taxonomic groups were made in terms of categorization with the extent of data available, the statistical power of the models would decrease significantly.

The approach selected for assessing goodness-of-fit presents limitations regarding the statistical power of the models. Nagelkerke  $R^2$  was selected as the statistic to evaluate the goodness-of-fit. However, these values are considerably high (see Chapter 3). considering the limited number of data points that are fitted into the regression to construct the SSDs When other  $R^2$  values such as Efron  $R^2$  were calculated for the regressions, the results differed from

the Nagelkerke  $R^2$  values. As Nagelkerke  $R^2$  is a commonly used statistic, these values were presented in the report. However, to ensure a greater statistical certainty and coherence with regards to the models, more data points should be incorporated into the models.

A categorization around life processes (growth, reproduction, survival) as done by Azevedo et al. (2015) was originally intended to be included as a part of the analysis. However, within the current data collection format, there is no distinction between experiment variables. Instead, the number and types of variables were collected and listed per species. Moreover, Azevedo et al. (2015) excluded variables associated with metabolic processes or behavioural aspects. The variety of experiment variables were higher within the dataset of Wittmann et al. (2013). These variables were grouped together rather than being recorded separately for each experiment, which made it harder to classify into distinct life processes. Consequently, life process categorization was not included in the scope of this thesis. The effect of swimming behaviour and the effect of fertilization success are different on the loss of biodiversity. Therefore, the variable types should be classified depending on their influence on PDF and explored accordingly in future studies.



# Conclusion

### Chapter 5. Conclusion

This research explores the relationship between the changing acidity of the oceans and marine biodiversity loss. This is done through developing an endpoint characterization model for OA to be utilized in LCIA. The model includes 3 different characterization factors based on the type of GHG (CO, CH<sub>4</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub>). With  $4.883 \times 10^4$  (PDF)m<sup>3</sup>/kg<sub>GHG</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub> emissions has the highest impact on marine biodiversity. From these factors CH<sub>4</sub> turned out to be the lowest ( $4.072 \times 10^4$  (PDF)m<sup>3</sup>/kg<sub>GHG</sub>. Along with the model development, influences of different climate zones (polar, temperate, tropical), calcification ability and duration of exposure (acute, sub chronic, chronic) on species responses were analysed. The results revealed that duration and climate zone are not significant in terms of species response to OA, whereas the calcifying species (mollusca, echinodermata, cnidaria) were found to be more sensitive to OA compared to slightly calcifying ones (crustacean, fish).

The model developed in this research differs from previous models in scientific literature due to incorporating slightly calcifying species in SSDs and assessing different influencing parameters on species response. Including this endpoint indicator for OA in LCA makes it possible to quantify the extent of impact that the service and product systems have on marine biodiversity loss. This allows for creating targeted solutions for both limiting the emissions from the production hotspots, as well as developing strategies to conserve threatened ecosystem such as coral reefs.

To sum up, OA has adverse effects on marine species richness. Most of these effects are currently not well-understood. More research is required to expand the collection of experimental data and to explore the unprecedented consequences of OA when coupled with other stressors such as global warming. The changes in ocean chemistry on a regional scale as well as the socio-economic and ecosystem level implications of OA need to be monitored closely. Incorporating the quantified impacts of OA in analytical tools such as LCA is of vital importance to have a grasp of the implications of our actions. With the addition of temporal and geographical aspects into the characterization model, future studies could contribute to developing a more robust category indicator for OA. Urgent attention is needed to further understand and mitigate the impacts OA, and to conserve the marine ecosystems.

## Bibliography

- Ahmed, M. (2020). Introduction to Modern Climate Change. Andrew E. Dessler: Cambridge University Press, 2011, 252 pp, ISBN-10: 0521173159. *Science of the Total Environment*, 734(May), 139397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139397
- Angeler, D. G., Fried-petersen, H., Allen, C. R., Garmestani, A., Chuang, W., Donovan, V. M., Eason, T., Roberts, C. P., Wonkka, C. L., Survey, G., Fish, N. C., Management, R., Agency, U. S. E. P., & Hall, K. (2019). Toward Harmonizing Ecotoxicity Characterization in Life Cycle Impact Assessment. *Advances in Ecological Research*, 60, 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.4261.Toward

Appeltans, Ward & Ahyong, Shane & Anderson, Gary & Angel, Martin & Artois, Tom & Bailly, Nicolas & Bamber, Roger & Barber, Anthony & Bartsch, Ilse & Berta, Annalisa & Błażewicz, Magdalena & Bock, Phil & Boxshall, Geoff & Boyko, Christopher & Brandão, Simone & Bray, Rodney & Bruce, Niel & Cairns, Stephen & Chan, Tin Yam & Costello, Mark. (2012). The Magnitude of Global Marine Species Diversity. Current Biology. 22. 2189-2202. 10.1016/j.cub.2012.09.036.

Azevedo, L. B., De Schryver, A. M., Hendriks, A. J., & Huijbregts, M. A. J. (2015). Calcifying species sensitivity distributions for ocean acidification. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 49(3), 1495–1500. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/es505485m</u>

Bach, V., Möller, F., Finogenova, N., & Emara, Y. (2016). Characterization model to assess ocean acidification within life cycle assessment. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 1463–1472. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-016-1121-x</u>

Bare, J.C., Hofstetter, P., Pennington, D.W. et al. Midpoints versus endpoints: The sacrifices and benefits. Int. J. LCA 5, 319 (2000). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02978665</u>

Barker, S. & Ridgwell, A. (2012) Ocean Acidification. Nature Education Knowledge 3(10):21

Beam, Andrew & Motsinger-Reif, Alison. (2014). Beyond IC50s: Towards Robust Statistical Methods for in vitro Association Studies. Journal of pharmacogenomics & pharmacoproteomics. 5. 1000121. 10.4172/2153-0645.1000121.

Bodin D., Yeates K.O., Cass J. (2011) Sensitive Periods. In: Kreutzer J.S., DeLuca J., Caplan B. (eds) Encyclopedia of Clinical Neuropsychology. Springer, New York, NY. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-79948-3\_1593

Bouchet, P. (2006). The magnitude of marine biodiversity, in: Duarte, C. (Ed.) (2006). The exploration of marine biodiversity: scientific and technological challenges. pp. 31-62, http://www.marbef.org/modules/imis/moa/?module=ref&refid=106673

Buis, A. (2019). The Atmosphere: Getting a Handle on Carbon Dioxide – Climate Change: Vital Signs of the Planet. Retrieved 9 July 2021, from <u>https://climate.nasa.gov/news/2915/the-atmosphere-getting-a-handle-on-carbon-dioxide/</u>

Bulle, C., Margni, M., Patouillard, L., Boulay, A. M., Bourgault, G., De Bruille, V., Cao, V., Hauschild, M., Henderson, A., Humbert, S., Kashef-Haghighi, S., Kounina, A., Laurent, A., Levasseur, A., Liard, G., Rosenbaum, R. K., Roy, P. O., Shaked, S., Fantke, P., & Jolliet, O. (2019). IMPACT World+: a globally regionalized life cycle impact assessment method. *International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment*, 24(9), 1653–1674. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-019-01583-

Bunje, P. (2003). The mollusca. Retrieved 29 June 2021, from <u>https://ucmp.berkeley.edu/taxa/inverts/mollusca/mollusca.php</u>

Carr, Hannah & Abas, Marina & Boutahar, Loubna & Chan, Wing Yan & Chapman, Abbie & de Mendonça, Sarah & Engleman, Abigail & Ferrario, Filippo & Simmons, Kayelyn & Verdura, Jana & Zivian, Anna & Caretti, Olivia. (2020). The Aichi Biodiversity Targets: Achievements for marine conservation and priorities beyond 2020. PeerJ. 8. e9743. 10.7717/peerj.9743.

Cooke, S. L., & Kim, S. C. (2019). Exploring the "Evil Twin of Global Warming": Public Understanding of Ocean Acidification in the United States. *Science Communication*, 41(1), 66–89. https://doi.org/10.1177/1075547018821434

Data Publisher for Earth & Environmental Science. (2021). Retrieved 22 June 2021, from <u>https://www.pangaea.de/</u>

Dixon, B., Heath, G., & L. Semple, S. (2016). The Immune System of Bony Fish. Encyclopedia Of Immunobiology, Academic Press, Pages 481-485. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374279-7.12010-7

Doney, S. C., Fabry, V. J., Feely, R. A., & Kleypas, J. A. (2009). Ocean Acidification: The Other CO 2 Problem . *Annual Review of Marine Science*, *1*(1), 169–192. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.marine.010908.163834

Fabry, V. J., Seibel, B. A., Feely, R. A., and Orr, J. C. (2008). Impacts of ocean acidification on marine fauna and ecosystem processes. – ICES Journal of Marine Science, 65: 414–432

Fallis, A. (2013). An Updated Synthesis of the Impacts of Ocean Acidification on Marine Biodiversity. In *Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling* (Vol. 53, Issue 9). https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004

Fautin, D. Gail and Hand, . Cadet H. (2020, October 20). Cnidarian. Encyclopedia Britannica. <u>https://www.britannica.com/animal/cnidarian</u>

Feely, R.A, Upton, H. F., & Folger, P. (2009). Ocean acidification. Climate, Energy, and Environment: Issues, Analyses, and Developments, 2(4), 21–40. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781789902747.00025

Florent Baty, Christian Ritz, Sandrine Charles, Martin Brutsche, Jean-Pierre Flandrois, Marie-Laure Delignette-Muller (2015). A Toolbox for Nonlinear Regression in R: The Package nlstools. Journal of Statistical Software, 66(5), 1-21. URL <u>http://www.jstatsoft.org/v66/i05/</u>.

Gadagkar, S. R., & Call, G. B. (2015). Computational tools for fitting the Hill equation to doseresponse curves. *Journal of Pharmacological and Toxicological Methods*, *71*, 68–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vascn.2014.08.006

Gascuel, D., & Cheung, W. W. L. (2019). Marine biodiversity and ecosystem services: the large gloomy shadow of climate change. In *Predicting Future Oceans*. Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-817945-1.00008-3

Gene S. Helfman, Bruce B. Collette, Douglas E. Facey, Brian W. Bowen, (2009) The diversity of fishes: biology, evolution, and ecology. Blackwell, 2009, pp 205-214

Goedkoop, M., & Spriensma, R. (2001). The Eco-indicator 99 - A damage oriented method for Life Cycle Impact Assessment. Assessment, April, 144. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02979347</u>

Grosell, M. (2019). CO2 and calcification processes in fish. Fish Physiology, Volume:37C, 133-159. doi: 10.1016/bs.fp.2019.07.002

Heijungs R, Guinée JB, Huppes G et al (1992) Environmental life cycle assessment of products—guide and backgrounds (part 2). CML, Leiden

Ho, E., & Rast, J. (2016). The Immune System of Echinoderms. Encyclopedia Of Immunobiology, Academic Press, Pages 462-467. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374279-7.12007-7

Hobbs, H. H. (2012). Crustacea. *Encyclopedia of Caves*, 458(2009), 177–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-383832-2.00027-X

Holloway AM, Wayne RP (2010) Atmospheric chemistry. Royal Society of Chemistry, London

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2013) Climate Change 2013: the physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge

IPCC (2014): Summary for policymakers. In: Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Field, C.B., V.R. Barros, D.J. Dokken, K.J. Mach, M.D. Mastrandrea, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K.L. Ebi, Y.O. Estrada, R.C. Genova, B. Girma, E.S. Kissel, A.N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P.R. Mastrandrea, and L.L. White (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 1-32.

IPCC (2018): Summary for Policymakers. In: Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, H.-O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P.R. Shukla, A. Pirani, W. Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan, R. Pidcock, S. Connors, J.B.R. Matthews, Y. Chen, X. Zhou, M.I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. Maycock, M. Tignor, and T. Waterfield (eds.)]. In Press.

ISO 14044 (2006) International standard. Environmental management – life cycle assessment – requirements and guidelines. International Organisation for Standardisation, Geneva

Ishimatsu, A., Hayashi, M. & Kikkawa, T. Fishes in high-CO2, acidified oceans. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 373, 295–302 (2008).

Karaca-Mandic, P., Norton, E. C., & Dowd, B. (2012). Interaction terms in nonlinear models. *Health Services Research*, 47(1 PART 1), 255–274. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6773.2011.01314.x

Kirschke S, Bousquet P, Ciais P et al (2013) Three decades of global methane sources and sinks. Nat Geosci 6:813–823

Kriska G. (2013) Cnidarians – *Cnidaria*. In: Freshwater Invertebrates in Central Europe. Springer, Vienna. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-7091-1547-3\_4

Lacey, M. (1997). Tests of Significance. Retrieved 11 July 2021, from <u>http://www.stat.yale.edu/Courses/1997-98/101/sigtest.htm</u>

- Lewis, C. N., Brown, K. A., Edwards, L. A., Cooper, G., & Findlay, H. S. (2013). Sensitivity to ocean acidi fi cation parallels natural pCO 2 gradients experienced by Arctic copepods under winter sea ice. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1315162110
- Mahaffy, P. G., Matlin, S. A., Whalen, J. M., & Holme, T. A. (2019). Integrating the Molecular Basis of Sustainability into General Chemistry through Systems Thinking. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 96(12), 2730–2741. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jchemed.9b00390

McCormick, Mark I; Watson, Sue-Ann; Simpson, Stephen D; Allan, Bridie J M (2018): Seawater carbonate chemistry and the predator–prey interactions of a pair of common coral reef fishes (Pomacentrus wardi and its predator, Pseudochromis fuscus). PANGAEA, https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.924257

McOwen, C., Klimmek, H., & Weatherdon, L. (2019). *Background briefs for 2020 Ocean Pathways Week* (Issue November 2019).

Nagelkerken Ivan, Pitt Kylie A., Rutte Melchior D. and Geertsma Robbert C. 2016Ocean acidification alters fish-jellyfish symbiosisProc. R. Soc. B.2832016114620161146 <u>http://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2016.1146</u>

Olsen, E., Kaplan, I. C., Ainsworth, C., Fay, G., Gaichas, S., Gamble, R., Girardin, R., Eide, C. H., Ihde, T. F., Morzaria-Luna, H. N., Johnson, K. F., Savina-Rolland, M., Townsend, H., Weijerman, M., Fulton, E. A., & Link, J. S. (2018). Ocean futures under ocean acidification, marine protection, and changing fishing pressures explored using a worldwide suite of ecosystem models. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 5(MAR), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2018.00064

Rosenbaum, R. K. (2015). Ecotoxicity. Chapter 8 "Life Cycle Impact Assessment" (Hauschild MZ and Huijbregts MAJ eds). *LCA Compendium - The Complete World of Life Cycle Assessment, Life Cycle Impact Assessment,* 139–162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9744-3</u>

Royal Society Great Britain (2005) Ocean acidification due to increasing atmospheric carbon dioxide. Clyvedon Press Ltd, Cardiff

# Pierre, U., Martin, S., Rosco, B. De, Biologique, S., Rosco, D., & Hansson, L. (2011). *Scientific Highlights Ocean acidifi cation in the coastal ocean.* 2100(January), 5–14.

Satoh, N. (2016). Chordate origins and evolution. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science. \*\*fix\*\*

Schmutter, K., Nash, M., & Dovey, L. (2017). Ocean acidification: assessing the vulnerability of socioeconomic systems in Small Island Developing States. *Regional Environmental Change*, *17*(4), 973–987. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-016-0949-8</u>

Smith, T. J., & McKenna, C. M. (2013). A Comparison of Logistic Regression pseudo R2 indices. *Multiple Linear Regression Viewpoints*, *39*(2), 17–26.

Spiess, A. N., & Neumeyer, N. (2010). An evaluation of R2 as an inadequate measure for nonlinear models in pharmacological and biochemical research: a Monte Carlo approach. *BMC pharmacology*, *10*, 6. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2210-10-6

Spurgeon, D., Lahive, E., Robinson, A., Short, S., & Kille, P. (2020). Species Sensitivity to Toxic Substances: Evolution, Ecology and Applications. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 8(December), 1–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2020.588380</u>

Steffen, W., Richardson, K., Rockström, J., Cornell, S. E., Fetzer, I., Bennett, E. M., Biggs, R., Carpenter, S. R., De Vries, W., De Wit, C. A., Folke, C., Gerten, D., Heinke, J., Mace, G. M., Persson, L. M., Ramanathan, V., Reyers, B., & Sörlin, S. (2015). Planetary boundaries: Guiding human development on a changing planet. *Science*, *347*(6223). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1259855

United Nations. (2020). Leaders' pledge for nature: United to Reverse Biodiversity Loss by 2030 for Sustainable Development. *United Nations Summit on Biodiversity, September*. <u>https://www.leaderspledgefornature.org/</u>

Wittmann, A. C., & Pörtner, H. O. (2013). Sensitivities of extant animal taxa to ocean acidification. *Nature Climate Change*, *3*(11), 995–1001. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1982

Wuebbles, D. J., & Hayhoe, K. (2002). Atmospheric methane and global change. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 57(3–4), 177–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0012-8252(01)00062-9

Woods, J. S., Veltman, K., Huijbregts, M. A. J., Verones, F., & Hertwich, E. G. (2016). Towards a meaningful assessment of marine ecological impacts in life cycle assessment (LCA). Environment International, 89–90, 48–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2015.12.033</u>

Yang, Y., Hansson, L., & Gattuso, J. P. (2016). Data compilation on the biological response to ocean acidification: An update. *Earth System Science Data*, 8(1), 79–87. https://doi.org/10.5194/essd-8-79-2016

# Appendices

#### Appendix A: Reference list for the species dataset expansion

- Bailey, Allison; Thor, Peter; Browman, Howard I; Fields, David M; Runge, Jeffrey A; Vermont, Alexander; Bjelland, Reidun; Thompson, Cameron; Shema, Steven; Durif, Caroline M F; Hop, Haakon (2017): Early life stages of the Arctic copepod Calanus glacialis are unaffected by increased seawater pCO2. PANGAEA, https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.861734, Supplement to: Bailey, A et al. (2016): Early life stages of the Arctic copepod Calanus glacialis are unaffected by increased seawater pCO2. ICES Journal of Marine Science, fsw066, https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsw066
- Bögner, Desislava; Bickmeyer, Ulf; Köhler, Angela (2014): CO2-induced fertilization impairment in Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis collected in the Arctic. PANGAEA, https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.833621, Supplement to: Bögner, D et al. (2014): CO2-induced fertilization impairment in Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis collected in the Arctic. Helgoland Marine Research, 68(2), 341-356, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10152-014-0394-3
- Cattano, Carlo; Giomi, Folco; Milazzo, Marco (2016): Effects of ocean acidification on embryonic respiration and development of a temperate wrasse living along a natural CO2 gradient. PANGAEA, https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.864094, Supplement to: Cattano, C et al. (2016): Effects of ocean acidification on embryonic respiration and development of a temperate wrasse living along a natural CO2 gradient. Conservation Physiology, 4(1), cov073, https://doi.org/10.1093/conphys/cov073
- Dell'Acqua, Ombretta; Ferrando, Sara; Chiantore, Mariachiara; Asnaghi, Valentina (2019): Seawater carbonate chemistry and gonado-somatic index of three key Antarctic benthic macroinvertebrates. PANGAEA, https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.909706, In supplement to: Dell'Acqua, O et al. (2019): The impact of ocean acidification on the gonads of three key Antarctic benthic macroinvertebrates. Aquatic Toxicology, 210, 19-29, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2019.02.012
- Di Santo, Valentina (2019): Seawater carbonate chemistry and skeletal mineralization of a marine fish. PANGAEA, <u>https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.919534</u>
- Faria, Ana M; Filipe, Soraia; Lopes, A F; Oliveira, A P; Gonçalves, Emanuel J; Ribeiro, Laura (2017): Seawater carbonate chemistry and early life development of pelagic spawning marine fish. PANGAEA, https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.891632, Supplement to: Faria, AM et al. (2017): Effects of high pCO2 on early life development of pelagic spawning marine fish. Marine and Freshwater Research, 68(11), 2106, https://doi.org/10.1071/MF16385
- Hannan, Kelly D; Munday, Philip L; Rummer, Jodie L (2020): Seawater carbonate chemistry and oxygen uptake rates of coral reef fishes. PANGAEA, <u>https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.925711</u>
- Kannan, Gunasekaran; Ayyappan, Saravanakumar; Mariasingarayan, Yosuva (2020): Seawater carbonate chemistry and hatching success of anemonefish. PANGAEA, <u>https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.922623</u>
- Kunz, Kristina Lore; Claireaux, Guy; Knust, Rainer; Pörtner, Hans-Otto; Mark, Felix Christopher (2018): Swimming performance and respiration data of Polar cod (Boreogadus saida) under future ocean conditions. Alfred Wegener Institute, Helmholtz Centre for Polar and Marine Research, Bremerhaven, PANGAEA, https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.889447, Supplement to: Kunz, Kristina Lore; Claireaux, Guy; Pörtner, Hans-Otto; Knust, Rainer; Mark, Felix Christopher (2018): Aerobic capacities and swimming performance of polar cod (Boreogadus saida) under

ocean acidification and warming conditions. Journal of Experimental Biology, 221(21), jeb184473, <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.184473</u>

- Lopes, A F; Morais, P; Pimentel, Marta; Rosa, Rui; Munday, Philip L; Gonçalves, Emanuel J; Faria, Ana M (2016): Behavioural lateralization and shoaling cohesion of fish larvae altered under ocean acidification. PANGAEA, https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.872397, Supplement to: Lopes, AF et al. (2016): Behavioural lateralization and shoaling cohesion of fish larvae altered under ocean acidification. Marine Biology, 163(12), https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-016-3026-4
- Mekkes, L., Sepúlveda-Rodríguez, G., Bielkinaitė, G., Wall-Palmer, D., Brummer, G. J. A., Dämmer, L. K., Huisman, J., van Loon, E., Renema, W., & Peijnenburg, K. T. C. A. (2021). Effects of Ocean Acidification on Calcification of the Sub-Antarctic Pteropod Limacina retroversa. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 8(March), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.581432
- Mittermayer, Felix H; Stiasny, Martina H; Clemmesen, Catriona; Bayer, Till; Puvanendran, Velmurugu; Chierici, Melissa; Jentoft, Sissel; Reusch, Thorsten B H (2019): Seawater carbonate chemistry and dry weight of 5 and 15 days-post-hatch Atlantic cod larvae. PANGAEA, <u>https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.911498</u>
- Murray, Christopher S; Baumann, Hannes (2020): Seawater carbonate chemistry and growth, sex ratio of forage fish Menidia menidia. PANGAEA, https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.926048
- Park, Seojeong; Ahn, In-Young; Sin, Eunchong; Shim, JeongHee; Kim, T-W (2020): Seawater carbonate chemistry and mortality and behavior of the Antarctic amphipod Gondogeneia antarctica. PANGAEA, <u>https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.914371</u>
- Parra, Gema & Yufera, Manuel. (2002). Tolerance response to water pH in larvae of two marine fish species, gilthead seabream, Sparus aurata (L.) and Senegal sole, Solea senegalensis (Kaup), during development. Aquaculture Research. 33. 747 752. 10.1046/j.1365-2109.2002.00713.x.
- Porteus, Cosima S; Hubbard, Peter C; Uren Webster, Tamsyn M; van Aerle, Ronny; Canário, Adelino V M; Santos, Eduarda; Wilson, R W (2018): Seawater carbonate chemistry and behavior of European sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax). PANGAEA, https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.884670, In supplement to: Porteus, Cosima S; Hubbard, Peter C; Uren Webster, Tamsyn M; van Aerle, Ronny; Canário, Adelino V M; Santos, Eduarda; Wilson, Rod W (2018): Near-future CO2 levels impair the olfactory of marine fish. Nature Climate Change, 737-743. system а 8(8). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0224-8
- Rong, Jiahuan; Tang, Y; Zha, Shanjie; Han, Yu; Shi, Wei; Liu, Guangxu (2020): Seawater carbonate chemistry and gustation mediated-feeding behavior of black sea bream, Acanthopagrus schlegelii. PANGAEA, <u>https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.929192</u>
- Schram, Julie B; Schoenrock, Kathryn M; McClintock, James B; Amsler, Charles D; Angus, Robert A (2016): Testing Antarctic resilience: the effects of elevated seawater temperature and decreased pH on two gastropod species. PANGAEA, https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.868351
- Sswat, Michael; Stiasny, Martina H; Jutfelt, Fredrik; Clemmesen, Catriona (2018): Growth performance and survival of larval Atlantic herring, under the combined effects of elevated temperatures and CO2. GEOMAR Helmholtz Centre for Ocean Research Kiel, PANGAEA, https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.882302, Supplement to: Sswat, Michael; Stiasny, Martina H; Jutfelt, Fredrik; Riebesell, Ulf; Clemmesen, Catriona (2018): Growth performance and survival of larval Atlantic herring, under the combined effects of elevated temperatures and CO2. PLoS ONE, 13(1), e0191947, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0191947
- Schiffer, Melanie; Harms, Lars; Pörtner, Hans-Otto; Mark, Felix Christopher; Storch, Daniela (2014): Effects of pre-hatching pCO2 on development and survival of zoea stages of Arctic spider crab Hvas araneus. PANGAEA. https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.833067, Supplement to: Schiffer, M et al. (2014): Prehatching seawater pCO2 affects development and survival of zoea stages of Arctic spider araneus. Ecology Progress crab Hyas Marine Series, 501, 127-139, https://doi.org/10.3354/meps10687
- Sundin, Josefin; Jutfelt, Fredrik (2016): 9-28 d of exposure to elevated pCO2 reduces avoidance of predator odour but had no effect on behavioural lateralization or swimming in temperate wrasse(Ctenolabrus rupestris). activity a PANGAEA. https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.859317, Supplement to: Sundin, J; Jutfelt, F (2016): 9-28 d of exposure to elevated pCO2 reduces avoidance of predator odour but had no effect on behavioural lateralization or swimming activity in a temperate wrasse(Ctenolabrus rupestris). **ICES** Journal of Marine Science. 73(3). 620-632. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsv101
- Wang, Xiaojie; Song, Lulu; Chen, Yi; Ran, Haoyu; Song, Jiakun (2017): Seawater carbonate chemistry and early development and escape behavior of marine medaka (Oryzias melastigma). PANGAEA, https://doi.org/10.1594/PANGAEA.890639, Supplement to: Wang, X et al. (2017): Impact of ocean acidification on the early development and escape behavior of marine medaka ( Oryzias melastigma ). Marine Environmental Research, 131, 10-18, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2017.09.001

# Appendix B: pCO<sub>2</sub> – pH conversion

pCO2 range	pCO2 average	pН
500 - 650	550.0	7.922
651 - 850	750.5	7.804
851 - 1370	1110.5	7.655
1371 - 2900	2135.5	7.406
2901 - 10000	6450.5	6.986
10000	10000	6.820

Table 11. pCO2 ranges of the bins, average pCO2 per bin and the corresponding pH values

# Appendix C: Global normalization factors and number of extant species for each taxonomic group

Taxon	Global normalization factor	Number of extant species	Reference
Echinodermata	0.053	7000	Ho & Rast, 2016
Mollusca	0.379	50000	Appeltans et al., 2012
Crustacea	0.303	40000	Hobbs, 2012
Fish (Actinopterygii)	0.197	26000	Dixon et al., 2016
Cnidaria	0.068	9000	Fautin et al., 2020

Table 12 Global normalization factors and number of extant species per taxon, and their corresponding references

# Appendix D: Fate Model Calculations

#### **Distribution Factor**

Both CO and CH<sub>4</sub> are converted into  $CO_2$  in the atmosphere by reacting with oxygen (Wuebbles and Hayhoe, 2002). The troposphere is the layer of the atmosphere where this conversion occurs. In order to know the extent of these conversions, first, the distribution of these emissions within the atmosphere should be determined. The distribution factor indicates this percentage of the emissions entering the troposphere. All of the emitted  $CO_2$  initially ends up in the troposphere. While this is the case for  $CO_2$ , only 87.1% of the CO reaches the troposphere. A similar but slightly higher percentage, 87.8%, is suggested by the literature for CH<sub>4</sub> (Kirscheke et al., 2013). The distribution factors for each elementary flow are therefore;

Distribution Factor<sub>CO</sub> = 0.871Distribution Factor <sub>CH4</sub> = 0.878Distribution Factor<sub>CO2</sub> = 1

#### **Conversion Factor**

The troposphere is a natural sink for methane. While CO directly transforms into CO<sub>2</sub> in the troposphere, CH<sub>4</sub> goes through a series of reactions. CH<sub>4</sub> first gets oxidized through reacting

with  $OH^{-}$  ions which eventually results in the formation of  $CH_2O$  and  $H_2O$ . This oxidation is influenced by the bioavailability of ozone and nitrogen oxides within the troposphere (Bach et al., 2016). Then,  $CH_2O$  further reacts into CO. The percentage of  $CH_4$  converted to CO is estimated as 95% based on the suggestion Holloway and Wayne (2010). According to literature, 100% of the CO converts to CO2 through oxidation.

Overall, the total amount of  $CO_2$  in the troposphere is a sum of direct ( $CO_2$ ) and indirect emissions ( $CH_4$  and CO). Conversion factor allows the calculation of the latter. This factor is considered as 1 for  $CO_2$  as it is the required chemical formulation to dissolve in the ocean. The conversion factors of the elementary flows are:

Conversion Factor $_{CO4} = 1 \text{ g}_{CO2}/\text{g}_{CO2}$ Conversion Factor  $_{CH4} = 0.95 \text{ g}_{CO2}/\text{g}_{CH4}$ Conversion Factor $_{CO2} = 1 \text{ g}_{CO2}/\text{g}_{CO2}$ 

### **Dissolution Factor**

Following the conversion of all of the elementary flows into  $CO_2$ , the dissolution of  $CO_2$  in the ocean is calculated. The dissolution factor is accounting for the fact that the selected environment is a water body for the fate model. There is a certain chemical equilibrium within the ocean regarding the fate of  $CO_2$ . This equilibrium explains how aquatic  $CO_2$  is transformed or stored (IPCC, 2013). On one hand, the  $CO_2$  is converted into different chemical forms to be utilized by the marine species to support their life processes and there is a continuous flow of  $CO_2$  in between different layers of depth within the ocean. On the other hand, some of the dissolved  $CO_2$  is stored on the floor of the ocean in sediment form rather than dynamically being converted and transported within the water. This static form of  $CO_2$  within the ocean.

According to IPCC (2013), the percentage of  $CO_2$  dissolving in the ocean is between 25 - 30%. The average of these two numbers, 27.5%, is assumed as the percentage of all atmospheric  $CO_2$  ending up in the ocean. Thus, 1% of 27.5% of the dissolved  $CO_2$  reflects the percentage of stored  $CO_2$ , which is equal to 0.225%. 0.225% is subtracted from the dissolved percentage, 27.5%, leading to 27.225% as the total amount of dissolved  $CO_2$  contributing to OA.

Total amount of dissolved  $CO_2 = 27.225\%$ 

The dissolution factor gives the ratio of the total amount of dissolved  $CO_2$  to the share of  $CO_2$  able to be dissolved (see Eq. 2.3.3). To calculate the latter, the shares of each elementary flow that can dissolve in the ocean are calculated individually and added together using Eq. 2.3.4. These shares are determined by multiplying the distribution and conversion factors of each elementary flow.

Share of CO able to be dissolved =  $0.871 \times 1 = 0.871$ 

Share of CH<sub>4</sub> able to be dissolved =  $0.878 \ge 0.95 = 0.834$ Share of CO<sub>2</sub> able to be dissolved =  $1 \ge 1 = 1$ 

The sum of these three values is equal to 2.705. The dissolution factor for all the elementary flows is therefore 0.27225/2.705 = 0.1008 (see Eq. 2.3.3).

Dissolution Factor<sub>CO,CH4,CO2</sub> = 0.1008

## Fate Sensitivity Factor

Fate sensitivity factor translates the percentage of aquatic CO<sub>2</sub> into the dissolved H<sup>+</sup> ions as these ions cause the alteration of the acidity of the water body. As can be seen in Eq. 1.2, the initial release of H<sup>+</sup> ions is due to the conversion of CO<sub>2</sub> into HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>. Within this conversion, one H<sup>+</sup> ion is released per one CO<sub>2</sub> molecule. According to Doney et al. (2009), the probability of this reaction taking place is 90%. In other words, 90% of the CO<sub>2</sub> molecules will be converted into H<sup>+</sup> ions through the first conversion. The second part of the equilibrium reaction expresses the conversion from HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> to CO<sub>3</sub><sup>-2</sup> and two H<sup>+</sup> ions. The value found in literature for the probability of this happening is 9%. To calculate the total number of released H<sup>+</sup> ions, the number of H<sup>+</sup> ions per equation is multiplied with the probability of that reaction and these two values are added together;

 $(1 \text{ H}^+ \text{ ion}) \ge 0.9 + (2 \text{ H}^+ \text{ ions}) \ge 0.09 = 1.08 \text{ H}^+ \text{ ions released per one CO}_2$  molecule.

In order to find the category indicator, which is the "moles of released  $H^+$  ions per gram of CO<sub>2</sub>", the number of  $H^+$  ions is divided by the molar mass of CO<sub>2</sub> (44 g/mol);

Fate sensitivity factor = 1.0844 g/mol=  $2.45 \times 10^{-2}$  mol H<sup>+</sup>/gram CO<sub>2</sub>.

# Ocean Acidification Potential

So far, the journeys of each substance from emission to the ocean are explored in 3 distinct stages. The emissions get distributed within the atmosphere, get converted into  $CO_2$  and a share of this atmospheric  $CO_2$  dissolves within the ocean. By obtaining the product of these 3 factors, it is possible to calculate the fate factors of each elementary flow using Eq.2.3.2;

 $\begin{array}{l} Fate \ Factor_{CO} = 0.871 \ x \ 1 \ x \ 0.1008 = 0.0878 \ g_{\text{coz}}/g_{\text{co}} \\ Fate \ Factor_{CH4} = 0.878 \ x \ 0.95 \ x \ 0.1008 = 0.0841 \ g_{\text{coz}}/g_{\text{cH4}} \\ Fate \ Factor_{CO2} = 1 \ x \ 1 \ x \ 0.1008 = 0.1008 \ g_{\text{coz}}/g_{\text{coz}} \end{array}$ 

As previously described, the OAP<sub>i</sub> is the product of these individual fate factors and the fate sensitivity factor (see Eq. 2.3.1);

 $OAP_{CO} = 0.0878 \text{ x } 2.45 \text{ x } 10^{-2} = 2.15 \text{ x } 10^{-3} \text{ mol } \text{H}^+/\text{g}_{GHG}$ 

 $OAP_{CH4} = 0.0841 \text{ x } 2.45 \text{ x } 10^{-2} = 2.06 \text{ x } 10^{-3} \text{ mol } \text{H}^{+}/\text{g}_{GHG}$  $OAP_{CO2} = 0.1008 \text{ x } 2.45 \text{ x } 10^{-2} = 2.47 \text{ x } 10^{-3} \text{ mol } \text{H}^{+}/\text{g}_{GHG}$ 

Appendix F: Characterization factor calculations for calcifying and slightly calcifying species

Calcifying Species:

$$CF_{CH4} = \left(\frac{2.06 \times 10^{-3} \ mol}{g_{GHG}}\right) \times \left(\frac{1000 \ g_{GHG}}{1 \ k g_{GHG}}\right) \times \left(\frac{5.508 \times 10^4 \ (PAF) m^3}{mol}\right) \times \frac{1 \ (PDF)}{2 \ (PAF)}$$
$$= 5.673 \times 10^4 \ (PDF) \ m^3 \ / \ k g_{GHG}$$

$$CF_{CO} = \left(\frac{2.15 \times 10^{-3} \ mol}{g_{GHG}}\right) \times \left(\frac{1000 g_{GHG}}{1 k g_{GHG}}\right) \times \left(\frac{5.508 \times 10^4 (PAF) m^3}{mol}\right) \times \frac{1 \ (PDF)}{2 \ (PAF)}$$
  
= 5.921 × 10<sup>4</sup> (PDF) m<sup>3</sup> / k g\_{GHG}

$$CF_{CO2} = \left(\frac{2.47 \times 10^{-3} \ mol}{g_{GHG}}\right) \times \left(\frac{1000 \ g_{GHG}}{1 \ k \ g_{GHG}}\right) \times \left(\frac{5.508 \times 10^4 \ (PAF) \ m^3}{mol}\right) \times \frac{1 \ (PDF)}{2 \ (PAF)}$$
$$= 6.802 \times 10^4 \ (PDF) \ m^3 \ / \ k \ g_{CO2}$$

Slightly Calcifying Species:

$$CF_{CH4} = \left(\frac{2.06 \times 10^{-3} \ mol}{g_{GHG}}\right) \times \left(\frac{1000 \ g_{GHG}}{1 \ k g_{GHG}}\right) \times \left(\frac{3.165 \times 10^4 \ (PAF) m^3}{mol}\right) \times \frac{1 \ (PDF)}{2 \ (PAF)}$$
$$= 3.260 \times 10^4 \ (PDF) m^3 / k g_{GHG}$$

$$CF_{CO} = \left(\frac{2.15 \times 10^{-3} \text{ mol}}{g_{GHG}}\right) \times \left(\frac{1000g_{GHG}}{1kg_{GHG}}\right) \times \left(\frac{3.165 \times 10^4 (PAF)m^3}{\text{mol}}\right) \times \frac{1 (PDF)}{2 (PAF)}$$
  
= 3.402 × 10<sup>4</sup> (PDF)m<sup>3</sup>/kg\_{GHG}

$$CF_{CO2} = \left(\frac{2.47 \times 10^{-3} \ mol}{g_{GHG}}\right) \times \left(\frac{1000 g_{GHG}}{1 k g_{GHG}}\right) \times \left(\frac{3.165 \times 10^4 (PAF) m^3}{mol}\right) \times \frac{1 \ (PDF)}{2 \ (PAF)}$$
  
= 3.909 × 10<sup>4</sup> (PDF) m<sup>3</sup> / k g\_{GHG}

# Appendix G: Taxon based SSD results

### Results calculated in this research:

Taxon	pH50	Hillslope	Number of Species	Pseudo R
Echinodermata	7.745	-2.821	30	0.864
Mollusca	7.751	-2.392	44	0.982
Crustacea	7.427	-2.185	39	0.911
Fish	7.723	-2.971	41	0.843
Cnidaria	7.666	-2.565	22	0.951

- -

Table 13 Taxon based model parameters, number of species and goodness of fit measure

# Results of Wittmann et al. (2013):

. . . . . . . .

of the taxon sensitivity curves in Fig. 3.					
	Taxon	Α	В	R <sup>2</sup>	P <sub>50</sub> (µatm)
Fig. 3a,b reported	Corals Echinoderms Molluscs Crustaceans	3.058 3.021 2.924 3.361	1.597 1.627 1.448 1.830	0.9157 0.7991 0.7152 0.9731	1,143 1,050 840 2,298
Fig. 3c,d including estimates	Corals Echinoderms Molluscs Crustaceans Fishes	3.001 2.892 2.892 3.319 2.801	1.973 1.998 1.953 2.097 4.391	0.9378 0.8582 0.8638 0.9888 0.7653	1,003 870 781 2,086 632

Curve equation  $Y = 100/(1+10^{(A-X)*B})$ ,  $A = \log_{10}P_{50}$ .  $P_{50}$ :  $p_{CO_2}$  at which 50% of the species were negatively affected.

Figure 17 Parameters, goodness of fit and resulting pH50 values of the taxon sensitivity curves from Witmann et al. (2013)

Table 14 P50 values obtained by Wittmann et al. (2013) that are converted to pH for the sake of comparison with the results of this research

Taxon	<i>pH50</i>	pCO2
Echinodermata	7.748	870
Mollusca	7.789	781
Crustacea	7.416	2086
Fish	7.869	632
Cnidaria	7.694	1003

# Appendix H: The modelling method of Azevedo et al. (2015)

Experimental species response data for calcifying species were collected by the authors and further categorized into three main life processes: growth, survival and reproduction. The next steps in the approach of Azevedo et al. (2015) are:

1. Adjusting the species response data to empirical relative responses (eRR<sub>i</sub>) per species, using the formula:

$$eRR_i = 1 - R_i/R_r \tag{H.1}$$

where  $R_i$  is the reported response at pH *i* and  $R_r$  is the reference response (i.e., highest reported pH level).

2. Fitting eRR<sub>i</sub> and pH<sub>i</sub> values into individual logistic regressions to obtain pH<sub>50</sub> values (equivalent of EC<sub>50</sub> for pH) using the formula:

$$cRR = \frac{1}{1+10^{(pH50-pH)/\beta}}$$
(H.2)

where cRR stands for calculated relative response and  $\beta$  is the slope of the logistic function. The logistic function has two parameters and 1 degree of freedom, therefore only the experiments with 3 or more eRR<sub>i</sub> and pH values were utilized to create logistic regressions.

- 3. Classifying the regression results based on  $\beta$  and p values:
  - Detrimental if  $\beta < 0$  and p value  $\leq 0.05$
  - Beneficial if  $\beta > 0$  and p value  $\leq 0.05$
  - Uncertain if  $\beta = 0$  or p value > 0.05
- 4. Calculating of means ( $\mu$ ) and standard deviations ( $\sigma$ ) of the pH<sub>50</sub> values obtained from regressions that were classified as detrimental in step 3.

5. Constructing SSDs per life process by fitting  $\mu$  and  $\sigma$  values into a cumulative normal distribution indicated by the equation:

$$PAF_{i} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma}} e^{-(pH-\mu)^{2}/2\sigma^{2}}$$
(H.3)

where PAF denotes potentially affected fraction of species.

The intention was to expand the scope of the dataset of Azevedo et al. (2015) by including data for both slightly-calcifying and calcifying species, as well as species from the polar region to replicate the approach described above for a larger number of data. The purpose of this was to construct more comprehensive SSDs based on geographical classification rather than life processes. However, the raw data was not provided by the authors. The only available information from this study was the results of the logistic regressions from step (2) and the list of experiments included in the assessment. With the attempt to utilize this information and test the approach, the methodological steps from (1) to (5) were replicated for 5 of the experiments with the data found from the original papers referred by the authors. Some of the obtained results did not align with the results that were presented in the paper. Therefore, the approach was no longer utilized for the effect model.

#### Appendix I: Code in R

Code for modelling the Calcification Category SSDs:

library(readxl) library(ggplot2) library("rcompanion")

*#code to model the SSD for calcifying species data with a taxonomic grouping #step 1: weighted averages per bin per taxon; c(mollusca, echinodermata, cnidaria) bin0 <- c(0,0,0) #control* bin1 < -c(50, 62.5, 40) # response of the first pco2 bin - each number represent one taxa *bin2* <- *c*(64.7, 33.3, 38.5) *bin3* <- *c*(*51.4*, *67.9*, *44.4*) *bin4* <- *c*(90.3, 84.6, 85.7) *bin5* <- *c*(*93.9*, *100*, *100*) *bin6* <- *c*(*100*,*100*,*100*) #step 2: calculating the weighted average of each bin using the global normalization factors per taxonomic group  $w_gsr_c <- c(0.379, 0.053, 0.068)$ *w\_avg\_b0 <- weighted.mean(bin0, w\_gsr\_c) w\_avg\_b1 <- weighted.mean(bin1, w\_gsr\_c) w\_avg\_b2 <- weighted.mean(bin2, w\_gsr\_c) w\_avg\_b3 <- weighted.mean(bin3,w\_gsr\_c)* w\_avg\_b4 <- weighted.mean(bin4, w\_gsr\_c) w\_avg\_b5 <- weighted.mean(bin5, w\_gsr\_c) *w\_avg\_b6 <- weighted.mean(bin6, w\_gsr\_c) y\_c <- c(w\_avg\_b0, w\_avg\_b1, w\_avg\_b2, w\_avg\_b3, w\_avg\_b4, w\_avg\_b5, w\_avg\_b6)* 

#step 3: defining the pH values including the average control variable of the category x\_c <- c(8.0461, 7.922231, 7.804119, 7.655225, 7.406747, 6.986673, 6.820071)

#step 4: defining weights of the bins based on the total number of species data entry per given bin

*bin\_weights\_c* <- *c*(1, 0.358, 0.62963, 1, 0.8765, 0.83, 0.802)

#step 5: defining the logistic regression function with two parameters  $cfunc <- function(x,a,b) \{100 / (1 + 10^{(a - x) * b))\}$ 

#step 6: defining the nonlinear least squares (nls) function for the regression cal\_fit <-  $nls(y_c \sim cfunc(x_c, a, b), start = list(a = 7.5, b = -2), weights = bin_weights_c)$ summary(cal\_fit)

#step 7: calculating the nagelkerke R2
nullfunct = function(x, m){m}
null.model = nls(y ~ nullfunct(x, m), start = list(m = 50), weights = bin\_weights\_c)
nagelkerke(cal\_fit, null = null.model)

#-----

#code to model the SSD for slightly calcifying species data with a taxonomic grouping #step 1: weighted averages per bin per taxon; c(crustacea, fish)bin0 <- c(0,0) #control bin1 <- c(16.7, 30) # response of the first pco2 bin - each number represent one taxa bin2 <- c(18.2, 52.9)bin3 <- c(30, 57.1)bin4 <- c(48, 91.3)bin5 <- c(91.7, 74.2)bin6 <- c(100, 100)

#step 2: calculating the weighted average of each bin using the global normalization factors per taxonomic group
w\_gsr\_sc <- c(0.303, 0.197)
w\_avg\_b0 <- weighted.mean(bin0, w\_gsr\_sc)
w\_avg\_b1 <- weighted.mean(bin1, w\_gsr\_sc)
w\_avg\_b2 <- weighted.mean(bin2, w\_gsr\_sc)
w\_avg\_b3 <- weighted.mean(bin3, w\_gsr\_sc)
w\_avg\_b4 <- weighted.mean(bin4, w\_gsr\_sc)
w\_avg\_b5 <- weighted.mean(bin5, w\_gsr\_sc)
w\_avg\_b6 <- weighted.mean(bin6, w\_gsr\_sc)
y\_sc <- c(w\_avg\_b0, w\_avg\_b1, w\_avg\_b2, w\_avg\_b3, w\_avg\_b4, w\_avg\_b5, w\_avg\_b6)</pre>

#step 3: defining the pH values including the average control variable of the category x\_sc <- c(7.9833, 7.922231, 7.804119, 7.655225, 7.406747, 6.986673, 6.820071)

#step 4: defining weights of the bins based on the total number of species data entry per given bin  $bin_weights_{sc} <- c(1, 0.2909, 0.50909, 0.8727, 0.8727, 1, 0.982)$ 

#step 5: defining the logistic regression function with two parameters  $cfunc <- function(x,a,b) \{100 / (1 + 10^{(a - x) * b))\}$ 

#step 6: defining the nonlinear least squares (nls) function for the regression scal\_fit <-  $nls(y \sim cfunc(x,a,b), start = list(a = 7.5, b = -2), weights = bin_weights_sc)$ summary(scal\_fit)

#step 7: calculating the nagelkerke R2

 $nullfunct = function(x, m){m}$  $null.model = nls(y ~ nullfunct(x, m), start = list(m = 50), weights = bin_weights_sc)$  $nagelkerke(scal_fit, null = null.model)$ 

#-----

#step 8:visualization of the SSD including the regression and the data points per bin per each taxon #define dataframe for calcifying and slightly calcifying species  $df_calcification <- read_excel("~/Desktop/dataset OA V4.xlsx", sheet = "calcification results")$   $x <- df_calcification$pH$   $y <- df_calcification$neg_affected$ category  $<- df_calcification$calcification`$ #plot SSDs $<math>g <- ggplot(df_calcification, aes(x,y, color = category, shape = category)) + xlim(5,10) + ylim(0,105)$  g + labs(x = "pH", y = "Potentially Affected Fraction of Species (PAF)") + $stat_function(fun = cfunc, args = list(coef(cal_fit)["a"], coef(cal_fit)["b"]), color = "orangered1") +$  stat\_function(fun = cfunc, args = list(coef(scal\_fit)["a"], coef(scal\_fit)["b"]), color = "cornflowerblue") + theme\_classic()
+ geom\_point()
#-------

#step 9: interaction term test
#define variables
w <- df\_calcification[c(1:14), c(5)]\$weight
ind <- df\_calcification[c(1:14), c(4)]\$ind #identification variable for categories</pre>

#it --> interaction variable for testing # fit the data to the function  $it\_test <- nls(y \sim 100 / (1 + 10^{(a+a_it*ind - x)*(b+b_it*ind))), start = list(a = 7.5, b = -2, a_it = 0, b_it = 0), weights = w)$ summary(it\_test)

Code for modelling the Climate Category SSDs: library(readxl) library(ggplot2) library("rcompanion")

 #code to model the SSD for polar data with a taxonomic grouping

 #step 1: weighted averages per bin per taxon; c(mollusca, crustacea, echinodermata, fish) 

 bin0 <- c(0,0,0,0) #control

 bin1 <- c(100, 50, 100, 0) # response of the first pco2 bin - each number represent one taxa

 bin2 <- c(75, 66.7, 50, 0) 

 bin3 <- c(60, 60, 50, 100) 

 bin4 <- c(100, 80, 66.7, 100) 

 bin5 <- c(100, 100, 100, 50) 

 bin6 <- c(100, 100, 100, 100) 

#step 2: calculating the weighted average of each bin using the global normalization factors per taxonomic group w\_gsr\_p <- c(0.379, 0.053, 0.303, 0.197) #mollusca, echinodermata, crustacea, fish w\_avg\_b0 <- weighted.mean(bin0, w\_gsr\_p) w\_avg\_b1 <- weighted.mean(bin1, w\_gsr\_p) w\_avg\_b2 <- weighted.mean(bin2, w\_gsr\_p) w\_avg\_b3 <- weighted.mean(bin3, w\_gsr\_p) w\_avg\_b4 <- weighted.mean(bin4, w\_gsr\_p) w\_avg\_b5 <- weighted.mean(bin5, w\_gsr\_p) w\_avg\_b6 <- weighted.mean(bin6, w\_gsr\_p) y\_p <- c(w\_avg\_b0, w\_avg\_b1, w\_avg\_b2, w\_avg\_b3, w\_avg\_b4, w\_avg\_b5, w\_avg\_b6)</pre>

 $y_p < c(w_uv_g_{00}, w_uv_g_{01}, w_uv_g_{02}, w_uv_g_{03}, w_uv_g_{03}, w_uv_g_{03}, w_uv_g_{00})$ 

#step 3: defining the pH values including the average pH value of the experiments within the category

x\_p <- c(8.0548, 7.922231, 7.804119, 7.655225, 7.406747, 6.986673, 6.820071) #average pH values of each bin

#step 4: defining weights of the bins based on the total number of species data entry per given bin  $bin_weights_p <- c(1, 0.3125, 0.75, 1, 0.8125, 0.81, 0.75)$ 

#step 5: defining the logistic regression function with two parameters  $cfunc <- function(x,a,b) \{100 / (1 + 10^{(a - x) * b))\}$ 

#step 6: defining the nonlinear least squares (nls) function for the regression polar\_fit <-  $nls(y_p \sim cfunc(x_p, a, b), start = list(a = 7.5, b = -2), weights = bin_weights_p)$ summary(polar\_fit)

#step 7: calculating the nagelkerke R2

 $nullfunct = function(x, m)\{m\}$  $null.model = nls(y ~ nullfunct(x, m), start = list(m = 50), weights = bin_weights_p)$  $nagelkerke(polar_fit, null = null.model)$ 

#-----

#code to model the SSD for temperate data with a taxonomic grouping #step 1: weighted averages per bin per taxon; c(mollusca, crustacea, echinodermata, fish, cnidaria)bin0 <- c(0,0,0,0,0) #control bin1 <- c(45.5, 0, 66.7, 0,0) # response of the first pco2 bin - each number represent one taxa bin2 <- c(75, 0, 37.5, 25, 25) bin3 <- c(64.7, 20, 71.4, 22.2, 25) bin4 <- c(94.1, 40, 84.6, 100, 100) bin5 <- c(88.9, 90, 100, 87.5, 100) bin6 <- c(100,100,100, 100,100)

#step 2: calculating the weighted average of each bin using the global normalization factors per taxonomic group w\_gsr\_te <- c(0.379, 0.053, 0.303, 0.197, 0.068) #mollusca, echinodermata, crustacea, fish, cnidaria w\_avg\_b0 <- weighted.mean(bin0, w\_gsr\_te) w\_avg\_b1 <- weighted.mean(bin1, w\_gsr\_te) w\_avg\_b2 <- weighted.mean(bin2, w\_gsr\_te) w\_avg\_b3 <- weighted.mean(bin3,w\_gsr\_te) w\_avg\_b4 <- weighted.mean(bin4, w\_gsr\_te) w\_avg\_b5 <- weighted.mean(bin5, w\_gsr\_te) w\_avg\_b6 <- weighted.mean(bin6, w\_gsr\_te) y\_te <- c(w\_avg\_b0, w\_avg\_b1, w\_avg\_b2, w\_avg\_b3, w\_avg\_b4, w\_avg\_b5, w\_avg\_b6)</pre>

#step 3: defining the pH values including the average pH value of the experiments within the category

x\_te <- c(7.9860, 7.922231, 7.804119, 7.655225, 7.406747, 6.986673, 6.820071) #average pH values of each bin

#step 4: defining weights of the bins based on the total number of species data entry per given bin  $bin_weights_{te} <- c(1, 0.3519, 0.5, 1, 0.889, 0.91, 0.852)$ 

#step 5 is the same function definition for all regressions

#step 6: defining the nonlinear least squares (nls) function for the regression temperate\_fit <-  $nls(y_te \sim cfunc(x_te,a,b), start = list(a = 7.5, b = -2), weights = bin_weights_te)$ summary(temperate\_fit)

#step 7: calculating the nagelkerke R2

 $nullfunct = function(x, m)\{m\}$  $null.model = nls(y ~ nullfunct(x, m), start = list(m = 50), weights = bin_weights_te)$  $nagelkerke(temperate_fit, null = null.model)$ 

#-----

#code to model the SSD for tropical data with a taxonomic grouping #step 1: weighted averages per bin per taxon; c(mollusca, crustacea, echinodermata, fish, cnidaria) bin0 <- c(0,0,0,0) #control bin1 <- c(50, 0, 50, 37.5, 50) # response of the first pco2 bin - each number represent one taxa bin2 <- c(40, 0, 22.2, 66.7, 44.4) bin3 <- c(30.8, 20, 70, 70.6, 50) bin4 <- c(81.8, 40, 90, 86.7, 83.3) bin5 <- c(100, 90, 100, 73.7, 100) bin6 <- c(100,100,100, 100,100)

```
#step 2: calculating the weighted average of each bin using the global normalization factors per taxonomic group
w_gsr_tr <- c(0.379, 0.053, 0.303, 0.197, 0.068) #mollusca, echinodermata, crustacea, fish, cnidaria
w_avg_b0 <- weighted.mean(bin0, w_gsr_tr)
w_avg_b1 <- weighted.mean(bin1, w_gsr_tr)
w_avg_b2 <- weighted.mean(bin2, w_gsr_tr)
w_avg_b3 <- weighted.mean(bin3,w_gsr_tr)
w_avg_b4 <- weighted.mean(bin4, w_gsr_tr)
w_avg_b5 <- weighted.mean(bin5, w_gsr_tr)
w_avg_b6 <- weighted.mean(bin6, w_gsr_tr)
y_tr <- c(w_avg_b0, w_avg_b1, w_avg_b2, w_avg_b3, w_avg_b4, w_avg_b5, w_avg_b6)</pre>
```

#step 3: defining the pH values including the average pH value of the experiments within the category

x\_tr <- c(8.0432, 7.922231, 7.804119, 7.655225, 7.406747, 6.986673, 6.820071) #average pH values of each bin

#step 4: defining weights of the bins based on the total number of species data entry per given bin  $bin_weights_tr <- c(1, 0.35, 0.6667, 0.9833, 0.9667, 1, 1)$ 

#step 5 is the same function definition for all regressions

#step 6: defining the nonlinear least squares (nls) function for the regression tropical\_fit <-  $nls(y_tr \sim cfunc(x_tr,a,b), start = list(a = 7.5, b = -2), weights = bin_weights_tr)$ summary(tropical\_fit)

#step 7: calculating the nagelkerke R2

 $nullfunct = function(x, m)\{m\}$  $null.model = nls(y ~ nullfunct(x, m), start = list(m = 50), weights = bin_weights_tr)$  $nagelkerke(tropical_fit, null = null.model)$ 

#-----

##step 8:visualization of the SSD including the regression and the data points per bin per each taxon df\_climate <- read\_excel("~/Desktop/dataset OA V4.xlsx", sheet = "climate zones results")

x <- df\_climate\$pH y <- df\_climate\$neg\_affected category <- df\_climate\$`climate zone`

 $\begin{array}{l} \# polar \ vs \ temperate \\ \# define \ variables \\ x <- df_climate[c(1:14), c(2, 3)] pH \\ y <- df_climate[c(1:14), c(2, 3)] spg_affected \\ w <- df_climate[c(1:14), c(4)] sweight \\ ind <- c(1,1,1,1,1,1,0,0,0,0,0,0,0) \ \# identification \ variable \ for \ categories \\ \# ind <- c(0,0,0,0,0,0,0,1,1,1,1,1,1) \end{array}$ 

#it --> interaction variable for testing
# fit the data to the function
it\_test\_temp\_polar <- nls(y ~ 100 / (1 + 10 ^ ((a+a\_it\*ind - x) \* (b+b\_it\*ind))), start = list(a = 7.5, b = -2, a\_it = 0, b\_it =
0), weights = w)
summary(it\_test\_temp\_polar)</pre>

#polar vs tropical
#define variables
x <- df\_climate[c(1:14), c(2, 3)]\$pH
y <- df\_climate[c(1:7,15:21), c(2, 3)]\$neg\_affected
w <- df\_climate[c(1:7,15:21), c(4)]\$weight
ind <- c(1,1,1,1,1,1,1,0,0,0,0,0,0) #identification variable for categories
#it --> interaction variable for testing
# fit the data to the function
it\_test\_trop\_polar <- nls(y ~ 100 / (1 + 10 ^ ((a+a\_it\*ind - x) \* (b+b\_it\*ind))), start = list(a = 7.5, b = -2, a\_it = 0, b\_it = 0), weights = w)
summary(it\_test\_trop\_polar)</pre>

#temperate vs tropical
#define variables
x <- df\_climate[c(8:21), c(2, 3)]\$pH
y <- df\_climate[c(8:21), c(2, 3)]\$neg\_affected
w <- df\_climate[c(8:21), c(4)]\$weight
#ind <- c(0,0,0,0,0,0,1,1,1,1,1,1) #identification variable for categories
ind <- c(1,1,1,1,1,1,1,0,0,0,0,0,0)
#it --> interaction variable for testing
# fit the data to the function

 $it\_test\_trop\_temp <- nls(y \sim 100 / (1 + 10 \land ((a+a\_it*ind - x) * (b+b\_it*ind))), start = list(a = 7.5, b = -2, a\_it = 0, b\_it = 0), weights = w)$ summary( $it\_test\_trop\_temp$ )

Code for modelling the Duration Category SSDs:

library(readxl) library(ggplot2) library("rcompanion")

 #code to model the SSD for acute data with a taxonomic grouping

 #step 1: weighted averages per bin per taxon; c(mollusca, crustacea, echinodermata, fish, cnidaria) 

 bin0 <- c(0,0,0,0,0) #control

 bin1 <- c(0, 100, 50, 50, 0) # response of the first pco2 bin - each number represent one taxa

 bin2 <- c(33, 100, 12.5, 77.8, 50) 

 bin3 <- c(30, 50, 70, 73.3, 16.7) 

 bin4 <- c(85.7, 100, 80, 100, 33.3) 

 bin5 <- c(100, 100, 100, 66.7, 100) 

 bin6 <- c(100, 100, 100, 100, 100) 

#step 2: calculating the weighted average of each bin using the global normalization factors per taxonomic group
w\_gsr\_a <- c(0.379, 0.053, 0.303, 0.197, 0.068) #mollusca, echinodermata, crustacea, fish, cnidaria
w\_avg\_b0 <- weighted.mean(bin0, w\_gsr\_a)
w\_avg\_b1 <- weighted.mean(bin1, w\_gsr\_a)
w\_avg\_b2 <- weighted.mean(bin2, w\_gsr\_a)
w\_avg\_b3 <- weighted.mean(bin3, w\_gsr\_a)
w\_avg\_b4 <- weighted.mean(bin4, w\_gsr\_a)
w\_avg\_b5 <- weighted.mean(bin5, w\_gsr\_a)
w\_avg\_b6 <- weighted.mean(bin6, w\_gsr\_a)
y\_a <- c(w\_avg\_b0, w\_avg\_b1, w\_avg\_b2, w\_avg\_b3, w\_avg\_b4, w\_avg\_b5, w\_avg\_b6)</pre>

#step 3: defining the pH values including the average pH value of the experiments within the category  $x_a <- c(8.0329, 7.922231, 7.804119, 7.655225, 7.406747, 6.986673, 6.820071)$  #average pH values of each bin

#step 4: defining weights of the bins based on the total number of species data entry per given bin  $bin_weights_a <- c(1, 0.1818, 0.52273, 0.9773, 0.7727, 0.98, 1)$ 

#step 5: defining the logistic regression function with two parameters  $cfunc <- function(x,a,b) \{100 / (1 + 10^{(a - x) * b))\}$ 

#step 6: defining the nonlinear least squares (nls) function for the regression acute\_fit <-  $nls(y_a \sim cfunc(x_a,a,b), start = list(a = 7.5, b = -2), weights = bin_weights_a)$ summary(acute\_fit)

#step 7: calculating the nagelkerke R2

 $nullfunct = function(x, m){m}$  $null.model = nls(y ~ nullfunct(x, m), start = list(m = 50), weights = bin_weights_a)$  $nagelkerke(acute_fit, null = null.model)$ 

#-----

#code to model the SSD for sub-chronic data with a taxonomic grouping #step 1: weighted averages per bin per taxon; c(mollusca, crustacea, echinodermata, fish, cnidaria) bin0 <- c(0,0,0,0,0) #control bin1 <- c(50,0, 100, 25,0) bin2 <- c(100, 0, 50, 28.6, 0) bin3 <- c(100, 16.7, 85.7, 40, 0) bin4 <- c(100, 44.4, 85.7, 71.4, 100) bin5 <- c(100, 88.9, 100, 100, 100) bin6 <- c(100,100,100, 100,100)

#step 2: calculating the weighted average of each bin using the global normalization factors per taxonomic group w\_gsr\_sc <- c(0.379, 0.053, 0.303, 0.197, 0.068) #mollusca, echinodermata, crustacea, fish, cnidaria w\_avg\_b0 <- weighted.mean(bin0, w\_gsr\_sc) w\_avg\_b1 <- weighted.mean(bin1, w\_gsr\_sc) w\_avg\_b2 <- weighted.mean(bin2, w\_gsr\_sc) w\_avg\_b3 <- weighted.mean(bin3,w\_gsr\_sc) w\_avg\_b4 <- weighted.mean(bin4, w\_gsr\_sc) w\_avg\_b5 <- weighted.mean(bin5, w\_gsr\_sc) w\_avg\_b6 <- weighted.mean(bin6, w\_gsr\_sc) y\_sc <- c(w\_avg\_b0, w\_avg\_b1, w\_avg\_b2, w\_avg\_b3, w\_avg\_b4, w\_avg\_b5, w\_avg\_b6)</pre>

#step 3: defining the pH values including the average pH value of the experiments within the category

x\_sc <- c(8.0229, 7.922231, 7.804119, 7.655225, 7.406747, 6.986673, 6.820071) #average pH values of each bin

#step 4: defining weights of the bins based on the total number of species data entry per given bin  $bin_weights_{sc} <- c(1, 0.2857, 0.67857, 0.9643, 1, 0.93, 0.929)$ 

#step 5: defining the logistic regression function with two parameters  $cfunc <- function(x,a,b) \{100 / (1 + 10^{(a - x) * b))\}$ 

#step 6: defining the nonlinear least squares (nls) function for the regression
sc\_fit <- nls(y\_sc ~ cfunc(x\_sc,a,b), start = list(a = 7.5, b = -2), weights = bin\_weights\_sc)
summary(sc\_fit)</pre>

*#step 7: calculating the nagelkerke R2* 

nullfunct = function(x, m){m}
null.model = nls(y ~ nullfunct(x, m), start = list(m = 50), weights = bin\_weights\_sc)
nagelkerke(sc\_fit, null = null.model)

#-----

 #code to model the SSD for chronic data with a taxonomic grouping

 #step 1: weighted averages per bin per taxon; c(mollusca, crustacea, echinodermata, fish, cnidaria) 

 bin0 <- c(0,0,0,0) #control

 bin1 <- c(53.8, 0, 60, 0, 40) # response of the first pco2 bin - each number represent one taxa

 bin2 <- c(66.7, 20, 44.4, 0, 40) 

 bin3 <- c(52.4, 33.3, 54.5, 33.3, 58.3) 

 bin4 <- c(90, 50, 88.9, 100, 100) 

 bin5 <- c(90.5, 90, 100, 75, 100) 

 bin6 <- c(100, 100, 100, 100, 100) 

#step 2: calculating the weighted average of each bin using the global normalization factors per taxonomic group w\_gsr\_ch <- c(0.379, 0.053, 0.303, 0.197, 0.068) #mollusca, echinodermata, crustacea, fish, cnidaria w\_avg\_b0 <- weighted.mean(bin0, w\_gsr\_ch) w\_avg\_b1 <- weighted.mean(bin1, w\_gsr\_ch) w\_avg\_b2 <- weighted.mean(bin2, w\_gsr\_ch) w\_avg\_b3 <- weighted.mean(bin3,w\_gsr\_ch) w\_avg\_b4 <- weighted.mean(bin4, w\_gsr\_ch) w\_avg\_b5 <- weighted.mean(bin5, w\_gsr\_ch) w\_avg\_b6 <- weighted.mean(bin6, w\_gsr\_ch) y\_ch <- c(w\_avg\_b0, w\_avg\_b1, w\_avg\_b2, w\_avg\_b3, w\_avg\_b4, w\_avg\_b5, w\_avg\_b6)</pre> #step 3: defining the pH values including the average pH value of the experiments within the category

x\_ch <- c(8.0096, 7.922231, 7.804119, 7.655225, 7.406747, 6.986673, 6.820071) #average pH values of each bin

#step 4: defining weights of the bins based on the total number of species data entry per given bin  $bin_weights_ch <- c(1, 0.4915, 0.62712, 1, 0.9492, 0.9, 0.831)$ 

#step 5: defining the logistic regression function with two parameters  $cfunc <- function(x,a,b) \{100 / (1 + 10^{(a - x) * b))\}$ 

#step 6: defining the nonlinear least squares (nls) function for the regression  $ch_{fit} <- nls(y_ch \sim cfunc(x_sc,a,b), start = list(a = 7.5, b = -2), weights = bin_weights_ch)$ summary( $ch_{fit}$ )

#step 7: calculating the nagelkerke R2

 $nullfunct = function(x, m){m}$  $null.model = nls(y ~ nullfunct(x, m), start = list(m = 50), weights = bin_weights_ch)$  $nagelkerke(ch_fit, null = null.model)$ 

#-----

##step 8:visualization of the SSD including the regression and the data points per bin per each taxon df\_duration <- read\_excel("~/Desktop/dataset OA V4.xlsx", sheet = "duration results")

x <- df\_duration\$pH y <- df\_duration\$neg\_affected category <- df\_duration\$`effect`</pre>

```
g <- ggplot(df_duration, aes(x,y, color = category, shape = category)) + xlim(5,10) + ylim(0,105)
g + labs(x = "pH", y = "Potentially Affected Fraction of Species (PAF)") +
stat_function(fun = cfunc, args = list(coef(acute_fit)["a"], coef(acute_fit)["b"]), color = "orangered1") +
stat_function(fun = cfunc, args = list(coef(ch_fit)["a"], coef(ch_fit)["b"]), color = "limegreen") +
stat_function(fun = cfunc, args = list(coef(sc_fit)["a"], coef(sc_fit)["b"]), color = "cornflowerblue") + theme_classic() +
geom_point()
#-------
```

#interaction term

#Acute vs subchronic #define variables  $x <- df\_duration[c(1:14), c(2, 3)]$ PH  $y <- df\_duration[c(1:14), c(2, 3)]$ Sneg\\_affected  $w <- df\_duration[c(1:14), c(4)]$ Sweight ind <- c(1,1,1,1,1,1,0,0,0,0,0,0) #identification variable for categories #it --> interaction variable for testing # fit the data to the function it\_test\\_a\\_sc <- nls(y ~ 100 / (1 + 10 ^ ((a+a\\_it\*ind - x) \* (b+b\\_it\*ind))), start = list(a = 7.5, b = -2, a\\_it = 0, b\\_it = 0), weights = w) summary(it\\_test\\_a\\_sc)

#acute vs chronic #define variables  $x <- df\_duration[c(1:7,15:21), c(2, 3)]$ pH  $y <- df\_duration[c(1:7,15:21), c(2, 3)]$ sneg\\_affected  $w <- df\_duration[c(1:7,15:21), c(4)]$ sweight ind <- c(1,1,1,1,1,1,0,0,0,0,0,0,0) #identification variable for categories #it --> interaction variable for testing # fit the data to the function  $it\_test\_a\_ch <- nls(y \sim 100 / (1 + 10 \land ((a+a\_it*ind - x) * (b+b\_it*ind))), start = list(a = 7.5, b = -2, a\_it = 0, b\_it = 0), weights = w)$ summary( $it\_test\_a\_ch$ )

#temperate vs tropical
#define variables
x <- df\_duration[c(8:21), c(2, 3)]\$pH
y <- df\_duration[c(8:21), c(2, 3)]\$neg\_affected
w <- df\_duration[c(8:21), c(4)]\$weight
ind <- c(0,0,0,0,0,0,1,1,1,1,1,1) #identification variable for categories
#it --> interaction variable for testing
# fit the data to the function
it\_test\_sc\_c <- nls(y ~ 100 / (1 + 10 ^ ((a+a\_it\*ind - x) \* (b+b\_it\*ind))), start = list(a = 7.5, b = -2, a\_it = 0, b\_it = 0),
weights = w)
summary(it\_test\_sc\_c)</pre>